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Five Year Financial Highlights

(B 5 45 B 5 4F > ¥ Lt O 3 v~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

B Results of Operations
A Revenue 214,129 211,489 216,181 269,818 360,675
£ ) Gross profit 143,840 134,468 136,178 139,337 240,771
EEVlE: Gross profit margin 67.2% 63.6% 63.0% 51.6% 66.8%
ST TR Loss from operations (21,664) (15,389) (6,960)  (154,540) (85,414)
KB E R Operating margin -10.1% -7.3% -3.2% -57.3% -23.7%
HE Y EMNE Valuation gains/(losses) on

e gk Ok #8) investment properties 9,259 6,405 3,178 (35,242) 5,330
W EY Gain on disposal of investment

W % properties - 13,336 - - 3,580
WEHREA M2 Ganondisposal of land and

i M EF IR buildings held for own use - - - - 44,753
HEE I B 2 7l i 28 Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - 129,510
TEAE P B FL & Reversal of provisions for potential

S R 7 T PRC customs duties and

KA BN %4 indemnity liabilities and refund

RER G of related distrained deposits - - - 126,495 -
ANFEIREZR A (Loss)/profit attributable to

MEAL (s 48) equity shareholders of the

il Company (13,771) 3,284 (11,740) (87,125) 90,189
& (B 1R) % Al Net (loss)/profit margin -6.4% 1.6% -5.4% -32.3% 25.0%
% (&518) / #2F]  (Loss)/earnings per share

— AR - basic ($0.08) $0.02 ($0.07) ($0.53) $0.54
B 10 % B Interim dividend per share - $0.10 - $0.10 $0.20
1 R 39 i S Final dividend per share $0.10 $0.05 $0.10 - $0.20
UK B R Dividend payout -125.0% 750.0% -142.9% -18.9% 74.1%
[ 3N A Financial Position
KEEWEL S Cash generated from/(used in)

(FTH) 2 8l 4 operations 38,938 (3,828) 28,461 (14,896) (61,708)
B4 MARAT454F  Cash and bank deposits less

R AT 1 S bank overdrafts 118,116 125,739 133,559 146,011 315,124
i B & AR Net current assets 131,160 160,013 139,090 152,797 256,568
G E Total assets 584,127 608,928 690,662 725,132 919,985
A fE Total liabilities 106,510 101,258 131,734 167,298 215,417
% HRE 25 Shareholders’ equity 470,424 498,998 538,886 538,095 682,314
A E ] R Return on total assets -2.4% 0.5% -1.7% -12.0% 9.8%
e REZS ¥ %  Return on shareholders’ equity -2.9% 0.7% -2.2% -16.2% 13.2%
B & (%) Current ratio (times) 2.9 3.3 2.4 2.3 2.2
A AR Gearing ratio 0.134 0.126 0.153 0.210 0.010
T W i A i Ay Number of shares

A (T K’ outstanding ("000) 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864
4T E Market capitalisation 185,768 298,555 427,929 497,592 1,169,341

4F #t 2022/23 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement

ESUEY

A 45 E i A BB 2 AR 987,292,000 i T 1S 0
F N 2419 126,837,000 IC 5 W 45.2% o A
S5 B AR AR B BUAE B AR BLAS % 1,673,000
wmo, mMERE - F _ _FNLA=1THIENSH
H 1 %8 %5 k5 18 % 23,337,000 9 7T ©

COVID-19 K Wi 47 ([ KW A7)) PA & 3£ o6 F+
EEMN ARSI EERTERTE-
ANSERY R > 15 WA R 2 A A A N R
BHEE _F _SHE=H =+ — 0 R
5 M B A 5 1813,771,000 T - filk 8
LE7 8 N SN RLE D R P S
S 78 M A B A AL 0 S BRI o

Ashworth

RIRE W RATEZ BN EE RRATH >
A1 8 6 Mk B = T R BT Ashworth ] 12 A4S 481 41 o
AREEMBEAZM BN 2R L T
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EH BB E MRS ENT S -
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J.Lindeberg

e Z Bl AT AR £ &
A 7 R P R M i ) TJ.Lindeberg ) 7 & o il
& % COVID-19 7% 28 4 3 k5 18 > fH.[ J.Lindeberg ]
IR b ViR IEVPN Tx
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7 W 22 A BV S 5 S IE] I 52 B — IR B BOAE
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FHEAMAT RN > JE — ML ESER -
E 1% — 42 102 > % & AR e ] 45 B A0 ) 2
4 R BUS HY

Group Results

The Group achieved a revenue growth of 45.2% from the first half year of
HK$87,292,000 to the second half year of HK$126,837,000. The Group
managed to achieve a profit from operations of HK$ 1,673,000 in the second
half of the financial year as compared to the loss from operations of
HK$23,337,000 for the six months period ended 30 September 2022.

The COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) and the fluctuation of currency
due to the appreciation of the US dollar have caused significant disruption
across various industries. Unfortunately, these two factors have had an
adverse effect on the Group, resulting in a loss attributable to equity
shareholders of HK$13,771,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023. Despite
these challenges, the Group remains committed to finding innovative
solutions and adapting to the changing business landscape.

Ashworth

The global golf industry has been impacted by the Pandemic, and our iconic
golf label Ashworth is no exception. The Group owns the global rights to
the brand, and despite expanding into Mainland China a few years ago, we
suffered losses due to the weak market during lockdown.

To enhance international exposure, the Group signed separate licensing
agreements to distribute Ashworth products in South Korea, North America
and Europe. On the other hand, the turnover in Hong Kong has increased
substantially since the end of the Pandemic control measures in January
2023, which is a promising sign for the brand.

Despite this positive news, the Mainland China turnover remains weak for
Ashworth. However, with strategic partnerships and a commitment to quality
products, the brand is well-positioned to overcome challenges. The future
may be uncertain, but Ashworth is ready to face it head-on.

Guy Laroche

The Guy Laroche heritage fashion brand is globally recognised and owned
by our Group, with licensing partners spanning across the world. Our
products, bearing the brand name, have been widely distributed, reaching
countless consumers worldwide. Through strategic measures to minimise
overhead costs, our French label has achieved and generated a profit. Our
team is continuously working to enhance the brand’s reputation and maintain
its position as a leader in the fashion industry.

J.Lindeberg

The Group has been actively promoting J.Lindeburg products in Hong Kong
and Macau, despite the challenges posed by the Pandemic. Although the
effect of COVID-19 resulted in losses, J.Lindeburg was able to make a sharp
recovery in February and March of 2023.

Printing

Hong Kong Security Printing has successfully concluded another fiscal year
making a profit. This achievement is particularly noteworthy given the
challenging economic climate and highly competitive industry landscape. It
is worth mentioning that this profit was achieved after contributing rent to
the Group for the use of premises.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement

Property

The Group owns an industrial property in Hong Kong that is used by our
printing operation. In addition to our industrial property, we also own an
office building in the heart of Soho, London, UK. This building has recently
undergone extensive renovations and is now fully let. We are delighted to
have achieved this milestone and are grateful to our tenants for their trust
and support.

Outlook

The Hong Kong market has shown signs of good recovery since February
2028, but the same cannot be said for the Mainland China market, which
is experiencing a slower recovery than expected. Despite this, printing
operation are expected to remain steady and Guy Laroche licensing will
have a growth in the post Pandemic period. Additionally, our UK property
is expected to report a full year rental income.

The current state of the global market is marked by uncertainty, with multiple
challenges across different regions. The ongoing war between Russia and
Ukraine, coupled with inflationary pressures in the US and a slow recovery
in China, have made it too immature to make any predictions for next year’s
results. Despite these challenging circumstances, we are confident that our
experience, strong cash position and commitment to excellence will enable
us to succeed in the face of adversity, and we look forward to continuing to
serve our clients with the highest level of professionalism and dedication.

Appreciation

The last few years had been difficult for the Group. The board extends its
appreciation to all our staff, suppliers, landlords and shareholders for their
continued support.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023

4F #t 2022/23 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T ERBEBE Key Performance Indicators
2023 2022 +/(-)
WL T i Wt T o 5 1)
HK$°000 HK$’000 change
FB R Performance Indicators
e A Revenue 214,129 211,489 1.2%
E F Gross profit 143,840 134,468 7.0%
SR Gross profit margin 67.2% 63.6% +3.6 pp
£ e Loss from operations (21,664) (15,389) 40.8%
ST TR S Operating margin -10.1% -7.3% +2.8 pp
A%\ A RE B SR A (Loss)/profit attributable to equity
(5 482) s shareholders of the Company (13,771) 3,284 -519.3%
& Uk 18) i % Net (loss)/profit margin -6.4% 1.6% -8.0 pp
MERFE - BLIH - 18 Xk EBITDA
Ui ) (A T 2 A 29,218 37,816 -22.7%
EBITDA % EBITDA margin 13.6% 17.9% -4.3 pp
4G P ] R Return on total assets -2.4% 0.5% -2.9pp
St 5 R B Financial Health Indicators
B4 B ERAT &5 A7 W AR AT Cash and bank deposits less bank
%X overdrafts 118,116 125,739 6.1%
B E Net current assets 131,160 160,013 -18.0%
G E Total assets 584,127 608,928 -4.1%
H =i Total liabilities 106,510 101,258 5.2%
J RRE 2 Shareholders’ equity 470,424 498,998 -5.7%
% HORE 25 1] R Return on shareholders’ equity -2.9% 0.7% -3.6 pp
i B & (1) Current ratio (times) 2.9 3.3 -12.1%
EARA MR Gearing ratio 0.134 0.126 6.3%
| A TEE R Shareholders’ Return Indicators
Wk (EH) #Fl—FEA  (Loss)/earnings per share — basic ($0.08) $0.02 -500.0%
5 1B 1 2 Dividend per share $0.10 $0.15 -33.3%
Ik B % Dividend payout -125.0% 750.0% -875.0 pp
B e REARLH Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure
REEBEL () 2 Cash generated from/(used in)
b2 operations 38,938 (3,828)  -1117.2%
EAZH —BRMEIMEEE  Capital expenditure — other than right-of-
LA use assets 4,689 6,441 -27.2%
5 BB R N Results of the Group’s Operations

EINE SRy 1 S e s BTN L /e |
COVID-19 R Wi AT ([ R WAT]) 1 fi% 1 52 28
HA 2R R IE M S AEE N EFIRA
#5 b2 AE 1N 45.3% o R > A 4R 4R R IR A
HEN1.2% £ 214,129,000 # Jo ( & — 4
211,489,000%5 JT)  IL4h > EEﬁAW%@%ﬂzﬁ
T % 67.2% ( % = "4 1 63.6%) > A £ M 4
N B Rl B 7.0% & 143,840,000 # oo ( — &
A 134,468,000 J0) o SR - R RN
Bk AT BLPE G R AT A B Y BN RS0 A AR
4,788,000% JC (=& = Z4F + L) » 4 N K
# k48 7 221,664,000 T (&
15,389,000 #5 JT.) o A % ¥ B 3 14 N 6.4% 2
167199000{%75 (% 4 157,174,000 #

) o R R R S AR Bk A R ME A g
5,478,000‘2%7% o

The Group’s business during the first half of the year under review was still
seriously affected by the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) but improved
significantly during the second half with a 45.3% increase in Group’s revenue
from the first half. Thus, the Group’s revenue for the year increased by 1.2%
to HK$214,129,000 (2022: HK$211,489,000). In addition, the Group’s gross
profit for the year increased by 7.0% to HK$143,840,000 (2022:
HK$134,468,000) as overall gross profit margin improved to 67.2% (2022:
63.6%). However, loss from operations for the year increased to
HK$21,664,000 (2022: HK$15,389,000) in spite of a government subsidy
income related to the Pandemic totaling HK$4,788,000 in the year (2022:
HK$NIl). Total operating expenses increased by 6.4% to HK$167,199,000
(2022: HK$157,174,000) which was partly due to a write-back of provision
for claims of HK$5,478,000 in the previous year.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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W0 (& T A i F) £ 3,284,000 TT) o
35 % & P 2 il (8 L 5% 9,259,000 5 76 (—
TTUAF 16,405,000 J0) o #EE TF T AR =
A=+—HILFE G EEREYERE
13,336,000 ¥ TC °

BE_FZ_=H=A=+—HILFE A%
[ A B 4 A £ 38,938,000 0 ot (&
TUUAE R B 4 U 4 3,828,000 JT)

W oE ZE=ZH=Z+—H 785
33,532,000 70 (=& ——4F : 38,917,000W7C) °

W OFECOEAEZAZ T —H AEE IR
1745 32 1% 19 Bl & TR AT 45 47 £5 118,116,000 #s
JC( & T U4 125,739,000 J0) > B8 X 4
JE 3 ) 7,623,000 gt e Y —F =4 = A
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55,982,000 i JC) &Eﬁﬁ'i%m470,424,000(%77:
(T2 — T 4F 1 498,998,000 JC) w5l H o A 4
[ S S b U SN o N

% B ol B

JYA 4y T AR B B B 161,416,000 T (&
T TUAF 1 158,844,000 J6) 0 A N BE A5 4 EF 40
RS~ BEIE - AT 88 B I U B A 2 k(RS R
%1 F110,787,000%5 o (=& — — 4 : 16,335,000
Hot) o WME F U SAEZHIE AL R K
T 5 A B QO 1 B B B A AR Y o B A A%
B A SO MR i & B A s o SR B B AR
60 il 5 € BE 7E Ff B A 3 e 408 85 8 B B8
Pow T AR A R B 12 4R B B -
A B ) 519 A 4 T b 0 SR 0 0 AR AR -

T E W e R

Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company for the year
was HK$13,771,000 (2022: profit of HK$3,284,000) included valuation gains
on investment properties of HK$9,259,000 (2022: HK$6,405,000). For the
year ended 31 March 2022, there was a gain on disposal of investment
properties of HK$13,336,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group generated net cash inflow
of HK$38,938,000 (2022: net cash outflow of HK$3,828,000) from
operations. Inventories as at 31 March 2023 was HK$33,532,000 (2022:
HK$38,917,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank deposits net of bank
overdrafts of HK$118,116,000 (2022: HK$125,739,000), representing a
decrease of HK$7,623,000. At 31 March 2023, the Group had trading
securities with fair value of HK$10,610,000 (2022: HK$17,119,000).

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$4,689,000 (2022:
HK$6,441,000) in additions and replacement of other property, plant and
equipment excluding right-of-use assets.

Group’s Financial Position

The Group financed its operations by internally generated cashflows and
banking facilities provided by its bankers. The Group continues to maintain
a prudent approach in managing its financial requirements.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2023 were HK$477,617,000 (2022:
HK$507,670,000). The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of the year was
0.134 (2022: 0.126) which was calculated based on total borrowings of
HK$4,000 (2022: HK$7,049,000) and leases liabilities of HK$63,057,000
(2022: HK$55,982,000) and shareholders’ equity of HK$470,424,000 (2022:
HK$498,998,000). The Group’s borrowings are mainly on a floating rate
basis.

Operations Review

Total segment sales of garment was HK$161,416,000 (2022:
HK$158,844,000) and recorded a segment EBITDA of HK$10,787,000
(2022: HK$16,335,000). As at the end of March 2023, the Group has a
distribution network of 99 points of sales (“POSs”) in the Group’s operating
market comprising 30 POSs in Hong Kong, 5 POSs in Macau, 60 POSs in
Mainland China and 4 POSs in Taiwan. There is a net increase of 12 POSs
in total POSs from the end of March 2022. The Group will remain prudent
with regard to store network expansion.

4F #t 2022/23 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

A 5 [ ¥ A TGuy Laroche | & [Ashworth |z 2
BRENGRERE - AEEARHINAKFT Z Frdr
g 35 AR %E 55 18,644,000k I6 (T T AR ¢
18,518,000 % JT.) » 43 ¥ 4F A Bk 15 16 F1 o

MOFE T ZHEZHZ—H AEEEAH—
Wi 57 A A SRR M R B A B 2 N AU
{H %5 186,345,000 ¥ oG > K — I {7 i & W F5 1
B AW TR - B (E 56,126,000 # 7T °
H i - % 12K A2 &2 R /5B -
L B BEA Y REAFE N E 582 B R
& [ A ) 4B AH A Ui A B8 N 6,339,000 76 (-
A 5,438,000 7T) ©

W AR > 22 A ENR 20 0 00 B S R AR AT 2k
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The Group owns the global intellectual property rights of Guy Laroche and
Ashworth. Total income of licensing of trademarks from external customers
was HK$18,644,000 (2022: HK$18,518,000) and this segment recorded a
profit for the year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group holds an office premise held for rental in
London with a fair value of HK$186,345,000 and an industrial building held
for own use in Hong Kong with a net book value of HK$6,126,000. Currently,
the said industrial building is wholly occupied by security printing section.
The office premise in London was fully let during the year and, thus, total
rental income from outsiders increased to HK$6,339,000 (2022:
HK$5,438,000).

Security printing section recorded a slight decrease in sales but an increase
in segment EBITDA which was mainly due to government subsidy income
of HK$1,152,000 (2022: HK$ Nil) received during the year.

Outlook

The current state of the global market is one of uncertainty, with multiple
challenges in different regions. While the Hong Kong market has shown
signs of good recovery since February 2023, the Mainland China market is
experiencing a slower recovery than expected. Despite this, we anticipate
that printing operations will remain steady and that Guy Laroche licensing
will experience growth in the post COVID-19 period. Furthermore, our UK
property is expected to report a full year rental income.

In light of ongoing challenges such as the war between Russia and Ukraine,
inflationary pressures in the US, and a slow recovery in China, it is difficult
to predict next year’s results. However, we remain confident in our
experience, strong cash position, and commitment to excellence. We are
dedicated to serving our clients with the highest level of professionalism and
look forward to overcoming any obstacles that may arise. Our goal is to
succeed in the face of adversity and continue to provide exceptional service
to our clients.

Law and Regulations

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on the Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated to promoting
equal opportunities for all of our employees in different areas, including
recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff promotion, transfer,
and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on their ability, performance
and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race, religion, gender, age
or family status.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our employees.
We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and safety legislations
and we have implemented an effective and safe working environment for
our employees.

We complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not identify
any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to workplace
quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach
of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulfill relevant
requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the manufacturing
and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of relevant
standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or non-hazardous
water, etc..

Social Performance

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate citizen
and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes. We
encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participated in various
charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its corporate
social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the society.

Environment, Social and Governance Report

An environment, social and governance report will be published on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company’s
website on the same date of the publication of the Company’s annual report.

4F #t 2022/23 Annual Report
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a divergence
from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and uncertainties affecting
the Group are outlined below. In dealing with these risk factors and
uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with our stakeholders with the
aim of understanding and addressing their concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other
risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could become material in the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

As China rapidly exits its zero-COVID policy, the reopening in December last
year has accelerated the country’s economic recovery, and we expect this
trend to continue this year. However, the global economy is facing increasing
challenges, from stagnation to the Ukrainian conflict and the liquidity
challenges faced by bankers. With China’s economic growth rate faster than
last year, we predict that China will once again become a key engine of
global economic growth this year.

Driven by strong recovery in inbound tourism and domestic demand, the
Hong Kong economy has significantly improved in the first quarter of 2023.
Looking ahead, inbound tourism and domestic demand will remain the main
drivers of economic growth this year. As transportation and processing
capabilities continue to improve, the number of inbound tourists should
further recover. The improvement in economic conditions and prospects
should boost domestic demand, but tight financial conditions will remain a
constraining factor. The continued improvement in the labor market,
distribution of consumption vouchers, and a series of “Happy Hong Kong”
activities will provide additional support for private consumption.

Currency Markets

The Group’s currency exposure mainly arises from its investments outside
Hong Kong. The results of the Group are recorded in Hong Kong dollars,
however its subsidiaries outside Hong Kong receive revenue and incur
expenses in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations that occur during
the progress of translation of the results of these subsidiaries or during the
repatriation of earnings, equity investments and loans may have an impact
on the Group’s results.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements at
the local, national and international level. New policies or measures by
governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the returns
delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the commercial
operational of an individual business, with a resulting loss in revenue and
profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures are
in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately 360 employees (31
March 2022: 370 employees). The Group offers competitive remuneration
packages including medical subsidies and retirement scheme contribution
to its employees in compensation for their contribution. In addition,
discretionary bonuses may also be granted to the eligible employees based
on the Group’s and individuals’ performances.

Relationship with Suppliers

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop long-
term relationships with suppliers based on mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure high
quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers, suppliers
and the public.

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,
quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.

Relationship with Customers

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service to
maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have access
to information about the operation and development of the Group through
annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to provide
customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which allow the
Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

Important Event After the End of The Reporting
Period

There is no important event affecting the Group which has occurred since
the end of the reporting period.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to uphold
a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes that the
principles of transparency, accountability and independence are essential
for protecting the interests of the Company and maximising shareholder
value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the financial year ended
31 March 2023.

Board of Directors

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets overall objectives and
strategic directions of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “the
Group”), monitors and evaluates its operating and financial performance. It
also decides on matters relating to annual and interim results, audited
financial statements, notifiable transactions, appointment and re-appointment
of directors, major acquisitions and disposals, material contracts, risk
management, major financings and borrowings, accounting and dividends
policies. The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
management of the Group and also instructs the management to implement
the Board’s decisions and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee.

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises five executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors. The biographical details of and
the relationships among the members of the Board are set out in the
“Directors and Management” contained in this Annual Report.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. The roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman of the
Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and overall business
development planning. The Chief Executive Officer’s duty is to oversee the
execution of daily business activities. The division of responsibilities at the
Board level is to ensure a balance of power and authority.

The Company recognises that Board independence is important to good
corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Company has
established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board, and such mechanisms are viewed annually by the Board, so
as to ensure their effectiveness. Under the mechanisms:

—  Three out of eight directors are independent non-executive directors.
The Company has met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors, one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
which requires the number of independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the board.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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—  Each independent non-executive director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee has assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive directors. The Board
considers all the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.

— Adirector (including independent non-executive director) who has a
material interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be
counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

— Inassessing suitability of the director candidates, the Board will consider
their profiles, including their character, experience, qualifications and
time commitment; the Board will also consider to the Board’s overall
composition and skill matrix as well as the Company’s diversity policy.

—  The Board will review each director’s time commitment to the
Company’s business annually.

—  The Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee are authorised by the
Board to obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice
as necessary to assist the respective committee.

—  The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board are reviewed
during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.

Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of each directors at the Board meetings, the meetings of
the Board Committees (the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,

LREMEMERES) @k - FRKHEM the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee) and the
FEREZIEW : 2022 annual general meeting held during the year under review is set out
in the table below:
L g 4% B
ZHA
FBRZHA HMZHE RAZHA Risk JBe R K f
HHH Audit Remuneration Nomination Management General
Board Committee = Committee = Committee =~ Committee  Meeting

RA7FHH Executive Directors
Bk £ Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1
A BRI Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
7K % Fu Sing Yam, William 444 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
B 55 9% (f =% Andrew Chan (retired on

o 7L A 23 September 2022)

—t=HE) 0/1 N/A N/A N/A 0/1 0/1
Bk & Chan Wing Fui, Peter 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 N/A 11
PRk Chan Wing Kee 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1
W JE# 17 # FF  Independent Non-executive Directors
L3 Choi Ting Ki 4/4 3/3 11 1/ N/A 11
B So Stephen Hon Cheung 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1
kL Li Guangming 4/4 3/3 11 17 N/A 1/1

TERBAEER ERgERERAATES
R RS DU o B ST R BT AT g e

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Board had a meeting with
the independent non-executive directors without the presence of executive
directors.
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Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the affairs
of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up with written
terms of reference. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the expenses of the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So Stephen
Hon Cheung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s internal control
system and its execution through the review of the work undertaken by the
internal and external auditors, evaluating financial information and related
disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and considering the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor the
interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s financial
statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has met with external auditor
twice a year, in the absence of management, to discuss any issues arising
from the audit and any other matters the auditor may wish to raise. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the independence and quality of work
of KPMG and has recommended to the Board to re-appoint KPMG as
auditor for the year ending 31 March 2024.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from that
of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented by the
Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises two executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki,
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Li
Guangming.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and in
overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by comparable

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the directors. It would
also take into account whether the emoluments offered are appropriate
given the duties and performance of the respective individuals concerned
and whether such emoluments are competitive and sufficiently attractive to
retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises two executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki,
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr.
Choi Ting Ki.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, and assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-election of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executives. The Nomination
Committee will consider the suitability of the candidate on the basis of his
professional qualification, skills, experience and background.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out a policy of considering a number of factors when deciding on
appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience.

Measurable objectives have been set to implement the Board Diversity Policy
and selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives
as stated in the above. By adopting such criteria, it also facilitates the
Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the Board to achieve gender
diversity. The Board aims to have at least one director of opposite gender,
and the Company will take opportunities to increase the ratio of female
members over time when selecting and making recommendations on eligible
candidates for Board appointments. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution (considering factors like skills, knowledge and
experience) that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight directors,
one of whom is female, and three of whom are independent non-executive
directors and independent of management, thereby promaoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional
background, skills and gender. The Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review the policy annually.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board, via the Nomination
Committee, conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and is satisfied that the Board
Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

Workforce diversity

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total workforce of 360 employees
(including senior management), of which 21% (76) are males, and 79% (284)
are females.

4F #t 2022/23 Annual Report
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While we believe our future employee recruitment should predominantly be
merit-based and do not consider it appropriate to set any target gender
ratio for our workforce, we recognize and embrace the benefits of having a
diverse workforce, and will continue to enhance the diversity of our workforce,
subject to availability of suitable candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which aims at setting out the process for the nomination of a candidate for
the Company’s directorship, in order to facilitate the constitution of the Board
with a balance of skills, knowledge, ability, experience and diversity of
perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the Company.

Based on the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall assess,
among other things, the following when considering whether a candidate
is suitably qualified to be appointed as a director before making
recommendations to the Board:

° character and integrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy
that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

° requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent;

° any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity; and

e wilingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

The entire Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and appointment
or recommendation (as the case may be) of candidates for the Company’s
directorship, and accordingly, shall consider the recommendations from the
Nomination Committee and make a decision.

The nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates for the
Company’s directorship could be summarised as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee should, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

2. Ifthe process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee should rank them by order of preference based on the
needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

3. The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee performed
the following work:

(i)  reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board Diversity
Policy;

(i
(i)

assessed the independence of independent non-executive directors:

made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-
appointment of directors; and

(iv)

reviewed the Nomination Policy.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises three executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and
Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-
related matters.

Corporate Governance Policy and Duties

The Board is committed to ensure that at good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision A.2.1 of the Code which are set out below:

(1)

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

@

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible for
arranging and funding suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of the directors. The Company provides
tailored induction programme to new director upon his appointment to equip
him with the appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and to ensure that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the relevant law and the Listing Rules.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to update
the Directors on the new amendments to the Listing Rules and relevant
matters. The Company circulates materials relating to the legislative and
regulatory environment to the directors on a regular basis for their information.
The Company also encourages directors to attend relevant seminars,
conferences or forums to develop and refresh their knowledge and skill.
During the year, all directors participated in professional development in
compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the Code.

Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an insurance
policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors and senior
management are protected from any liability arising from the performance
of their duties.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding director’s
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and its Securities Dealing Code throughout the year under review.

Emoluments of Senior Management

The Senior management of the Group comprises 4 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior management are set out in
the section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:

LK

0 ¥ 7t & 1,000,000 # 7T
1,000,001 #5 7T % 2,000,000 #% 7T

WA % B W WA BB R
it

EHRAREEASM MR mR T
Slf e PR 5% S B R 2 R BRI AT S A R B
5 B gl e A B E -

AN R 2 A VA% WA AT B S T B B R 2
WERMERNRERE RN A LB LY
fl ¢ 5 o

[T 4:2. VN8 §¢
Emoluments Number of senior management
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 | 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 ! 2
| 4

I

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect
of the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 32 and 41.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management, while management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for coordinating
risk management activities, and to report at least annually to the Board.
However, the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks (including, among others, material risks relating to ESG) from
the external and internal environments at different organisation levels. The
assessment considers the changes in nature and extent of significant risks
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment. Action plans have been developed and risk ownership has
been assigned for each key principal risk (including, among others, material
risks relating to ESG). The risk owners coordinate the mitigation measures
to ensure proper implementation of these action plans. The process is closely
monitored by the Risk Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks (including, among others, material
risks relating to ESG) and mitigation actions, the Board believes that the
Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in our business
and the external environment, and considers that the Group’s risk
management and internal control system was effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had implemented
procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information so that potential inside information can be promptly identified
and escalated up for deciding whether an announcement should be made
in order to ensure compliance with the continuous obligations under the
Listing Rules and the statutory obligation to disclose information under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”).

Internal Audit

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external consultant
to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has assisted the
Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal controls system
for certain selected processes. The assessment results and proposed
improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed with management
and were reported to the Audit Committee.

Whistleblowing Policy

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the Code, the Board has adopted
a whistleblowing policy. The policy provides formal channel and procedures
to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees of the Group
(the “Employees”) and those parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers
and suppliers) (the “Third parties”, each a “Whistleblower”), in confidence
and anonymity. The procedures enable the Whistleblower to report the
possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group directly addressed
to relevant personnel.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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Anti-corruption Policy

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 of the Code, the Board had adopted
an anti-corruption policy. The policy sets out the guidelines to prevent
corruptive practices and raise employees’ awareness regarding such matter,
and sets out the expectations and appropriate procedures of engaging third
parties, and standards relating to anti-bribery and anti-corruption.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the Vice
Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction and
professional development of directors. The Company Secretary also keeps
proper records of all Board and Committee meetings. The biography of the
Company Secretary is set out in the “Directors and Management” contained
in this Annual Report. The Company Secretary has undertaken no less than
15 hours of professional training during the year.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to audit services for
the Group amounted to HK$2,749,000 (2022: HK$2,574,000) of which a
sum of HK$1,589,000 (2022: HK$1,566,000) was paid or payable to the
Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor, KPMG
and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in audit and non-audit were
HK$1,589,000 (2022: HK$1,566,000) and HK$87,000 (2022: HK$206,000)
respectively. The non-audit services principally comprise of tax and review
services provided to the Group.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by the
Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

i) financial results;

i) cash flow situation:

i) business conditions and strategies;

iv) future operations and earning;

v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at
the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare
a dividend at any time or from time to time.

Communications with Shareholders

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communications between its
shareholders and the Board. At the Company’s 2022 annual general meeting,
the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management
Committee as well as and the external auditor were present to answer
questions raised by shareholders.

The Company also maintains a website at www.ygmtrading.com which
enables the shareholders, investors and the general public to have access
to the information of the Company.

A shareholder communication policy reflecting the current practices of the
Company for communication with its shareholders is available on the
Company’s website. During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the policy including steps taken at
general meetings, the handling of enquiries received from the shareholders,
the dissemination of information in relation to the Group, and the channels
of communications between the Company and the shareholders. The Board
considered that the policy was properly implemented and effective.

Changes in the Company’s Constitutional Documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same voting
rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the shareholders
are set out in, amongst other things, the articles of association of the
Company and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that an
EGM shall be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies
Ordinance. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors of the Company are required call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from shareholders representing at least 5%
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings of the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for a
general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request may
be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered office of the
Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygmtrading.com and must be
authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must call a general
meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the requests to do
s0. The meeting called must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary
YGM Trading Limited

22 Tai Yau Street,

San Po Kong,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygmtrading.com
Telephone: (852) 2351 1111
Facsimile: (852) 2351 5211

Shareholders may also make enquires with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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Directors’ Report

The directors submit herewith their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the
provision of management services. Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out on pages 112 to 113. Further discussion and analysis
of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be
found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 5 to
10 of this Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this director’s report.

Segment Information

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note [4] to
the financial statements.

Dividends

The Board resolved not to declare a payment of interim dividend (2022: 10
HK cents).

The directors recommend to shareholders the payment of a final dividend
of 10 HK cents (2022: 5 HK cents) per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2023 which, if approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, is expected to be paid on or around 16 October
2023.

Share Capital

Details of the movements of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 23(c) to the financial statements. There were no
movements during the year.

Five Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
fiscal years is set out on page 2.

Properties

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the Group are
set out in note 11 to the financial statements.
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Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2028 are set out in note 18 to the financial statements.

Charitable Donations

No charitable donations are made by the Group during the year (2022:
HK$306,000).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers and purchases
from its five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
turnover and purchases respectively.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

Fu Sing Yam, William

Andrew Chan (retired on 23 September 2022)
Chan Wing Fui, Peter

Chan Wing Kee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygmtrading.com under “Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance”.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s articles of association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company for the
time being or such higher number of the directors of the Company to be
determined by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every directors of the Company
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The board of directors of the
Company decided that three directors, Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, Mr. Chan
Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung will retire from the Board
by rotation, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Directors’ Report

Mr. Andrew Chan, after serving as an executive director of the Company for
more than 8 years since 2 July 2014, did not offer himself for re-election
and retired as an executive director of the Company at the conclusion of
the annual general meeting held on 23 September 2022, and ceased to be
the managing director of the Board. Mr. Chan confirmed that his retirement
was not due to any disagreement with the Board and there was no other
matter relating to his retirement that needs to be brought to the attention of
the shareholders of the Company.

The Board would like to thank Mr. Andrew Chan for his contribution to the
Company during his tenure of office.

Biographical details of the directors of the Company as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 28 to 30 of this annual report. Further information
of the directors standing for re-election proposed to be re-elected are set
out in the circular.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

Directors’ interests in Transaction, Arrangement
and Contracts

Apart from the details disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company;,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contract

The independent non-executive directors were appointed by the board of
directors and their remuneration is determined by the board of directors,
see section headed ‘Compliance with the Code of Best Practice’.

None of the directors who has offered himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any other member of the Group which
is not determinable by the relevant employer within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office at 31
March 2023 had the following interests in the issued shares of the Company;,
its subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of
the SFO at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions required to be kept under section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):
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(i) 36,791,700 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Fu Sing Yam, William, Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan family) and its
subsidiaries.

(i) 120,400 shares of the Company were held by Hearty Investments
Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other
members of the Chan family.

(i) 1,597,000 shares of the Company were held by Super Team
International Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee and other members of the Chan family.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the directors or
their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained | Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2023 was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a partly to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ Report

Substantial Shareholder’s Interest

As at 31 March 2023, the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that, other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of the directors, no other interests required to
be recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been
notified to the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, the directors are not aware of any person who
was, directly or indirectly, interested or had a short position in the shares or
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, was directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meeting of the Company or any options in respect of such capital
as at 31 March 2023.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Connected Transactions

Details of the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are set out in note 26(b) to the financial statements. In the opinion of the
independent non-executive directors, these transactions were entered into
by the Group:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;
(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or, where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv)

in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where applicable.

KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. KPMG have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Apart from the foregoing, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Compliance with the Code of Best Practice

The Company has complied throughout the year with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except that the non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to rotation in annual general meetings pursuant to Articles
96 and 105 of the Company’s articles of association.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors
and reports to the board of directors. The audit committee meets with the
Group’s senior management and external auditors regularly to review the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and the annual report of the
Group.

Sufficiency Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Directors and Management

Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, aged 75, received a Bachelor’s degree from
the University of Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as
a Chartered Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) from 1974 to 1988 and
has been an executive director since 1977. Mr. Chan was the Managing
Director of the Company from 1987 to 2006 and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company from 2006 to 2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company from 2010 and was re-designated as the
Chairman of the board of director of the Company in September 2015. Mr.
Chan has been the chairman of the board of director of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, B8S, JP, is the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company. She joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294) in 1973 and appointed as the Director in 1983. Madam Chan
resigned as the executive Director in April 2020 and was re-appointed as
an executive director with effective from 31 March 2021. Madam Chan,
aged 72, has extensive experience of management in the garment retail and
wholesale business. She is a Committee Member of the 3rd-6th Election
Committee of Hong Kong SAR, the Council Member of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council (“HKTDC”), the Chairman of Staff & Finance
Committee of HKTDC, the Honorary President of the Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong, the Chairman Emeritus of Hong Kong Brand
Development Council, the Vice President of the Guangdong Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment, a Council Member of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (“PolyU”), the Chairman of Advisory Committee on
Textile and Clothing Industries of PolyU and the Supervisor of Yau Yat Chuen
School. She received a Bachelor’s degree from Nottingham Trent University,
the United Kingdom in 1973.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, aged 61, received a Bachelor’s degree from the
University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1984 and joined the Group in
1985. Mr. Fu has been an Executive Director of the Company since 1995.
He was the Deputy Managing Director of the Company from 2006 to 2010
and was the Managing Director since 2010. Mr. Fu was re-designated as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2015. He has
extensive experience in fashion retailing, wholesaling, marketing and
merchandising. He is a Committee Member of the Heilongjiang Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA, aged 77, received a Master’'s degree in
Administrative Science from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) in the same year. He was
appointed as the Director and Managing Director of Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited in 1971 and 1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of
directors of both Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and the Company in 1987.
Mr. Chaniis at present the Chairman of the board of directors of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited. He was the Chairman of the board of directors of the
Company from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Chan has been actively involved in garment
manufacturing and marketing in the Far East and the USA for over 40 years.
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Mr. Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 76, received a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and joined Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited (stock code: 294) in 1970 as Production Manager and later became
Sales Manager. Mr. Chan was appointed as Director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited in 1977 and Managing Director in 1987. Mr. Chan has
been an Executive Director of the Company since 1987. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Kingboard Holdings Limited (stock
code : 148). Mr. Chan has participated in many textile negotiations with the
USA and Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He is a Standing Committee
Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s
Congress of China; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development
of HKSAR, Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board of Hong Kong;
Ex-Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

Mr. Choi Ting Ki, aged 68, is a felow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the
Department of Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same
year and has held various positions, including partner of the audit department
of KPMG Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office,
Senior Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired from
KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2012. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294).

Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung, aged 67, has been a director of an accounting
firm T.M. Ho So & Leung CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is
the chief financial officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House
Group Limited (Stock code: 8241). He has extensive experience in the
commercial sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public
practice working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada.
He holds a bachelor degree in commerce from the University of British
Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of Management
Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2017. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294),
since September 2017, and PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code:
1079) since September 2002. Mr. So was an independent non-executive
director of Milan Station Holdings Limited (stock code: 1150) from May 2011
to February 2017, Teamway International Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1239) from August 2017 to June 2019 and Pinestone Capital Limited
(stock code: 804) from May 2015 to November 2022.
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Directors and Management

Mr. Li Guangming, aged 71, has over 40 years’ experience in the cotton
textile industry. He was appointed as deputy chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile
Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief of factory in February 1991. He
has held various positions in Wuxi City Guolian Development (Group)
Company Limited and its subsidiaries. Among other things, he was appointed
as the general manager of Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited
(now known as Wuxi No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October
2005, and subsequently served as the Chairman of its board until December
2014. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional University (now known as
Jiangnan University) and was a member of the Standing Committee of Wuxi
Municipal People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since January
2018. He is also an independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (stock code: 294).

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of
the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee is the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan
Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William is the cousin of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr.
Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and Mr. Chan Wing
Kee.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company.
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Directors and Management
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Management

Mr. Kenneth Hung, aged 56, joined the Group in 1992. Director of Michel
René Enterprises Limited. Mr. Hung graduated from the University of
Minnesota in the USA and has extensive experience in the apparel retailing
industry.

Mr. Hendrik H Penndorf, aged 59, joined the Group in 2007 and was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (Directeur General) of Societe Guy
LLaroche and the Director of GL Europa S.A.. Mr. Penndorf, trained as a retail
trader, received a MBA degree at Hamburg University, Germany. He worked
for 15 years in senior management of a German department store chain
group based in Hamburg, Germany in various capacities from buying and
merchandising of fashion. He was the general manager of the department
store chain group. Before joining the Group. Mr. Penndorf worked for 2 years
as the managing director of Euro China Group Hong Kong which is a
boutique consultancy with mainly European blue chip clients.

Mr. Kwok Ying Tung, FCPA, FCCA, FCA, ACG, HKACG, aged 60, joined
the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Financial Controller of the Company in March 2018. Mr. Kwok is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
a member of The Chartered Governance Institute and a member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. He holds a Master’s degree of
Corporate Governance and a Master’s degree in Business Administration.
Mr. Kwok has over 20 years of experience in fashion garment manufacturing,
retail and wholesale and has extensive experience in general administration,
accounting and finance field.

Mr. Ngai Kwai Yung, FCPA, FCPA(Aust.), MBA, aged 65, is the Managing
Director of Hong Kong Security Printing Limited. Mr. Ngai holds a Bachelor
of Commerce degree and a Master degree in Business Administration. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
YGM Trading Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YGM Trading
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
42 to 113, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Local economic conditions affect customer numbers and
spending power such that the revenue generated from each
retail store fluctuates during the lease term. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, certain of the Group’s retail stores were
underperforming which indicated the carrying amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of these
retail stores may not be recoverable and required assessment
of impairment.

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units (“CGUs”),
to which property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of these retail stores were allocated, were determined by
management on a store-by-store basis. In determining value-
in-use, discounted cash flow forecasts are prepared by the
management.

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores
included the following:

e comparing the actual results of the CGUs for the current
year with the forecasts adopted by management in the
discounted cash flow forecasts for the prior year to assess
the effectiveness of management’s forecasting process,
making enquiries of management as to the reasons for
any significant variations identified and considering if there
was any indication of management bias;

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model. This included challenging
management’s identification of impairment indicators and

CGUs;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of retail stores to be a key audit matter
because future cash flows and profits of the retail stores are
inherently uncertain and the significant judgements and
estimates used in the impairment assessments.

e  evaluating the key assumptions used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management by
comparing significant inputs such as future revenue and
future profit margin of the respective retail stores with the
historical performance of respective retail stores and other
available third-party information;

e  evaluating the discount rates used in the discounted cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against other comparable
companies in the market;

o performing sensitivity analysis of the future revenue and
discount rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions to the
conclusion reached in the impairment assessment; and

e considering the reasonableness of the Group’s disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of retail stores, with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives amount to HK$133,442,000, which
represent trademarks acquired by the Group in prior years.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs to which trademarks
were allocated, which are the higher of the fair value less costs
of disposal and their value-in-use, are estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

In order to determine the recoverable amounts, management
prepared discounted cash flow forecasts and engaged an
external valuer to assess the valuations of the trademarks. The
discounted cashflow forecasts used to assess the risk of
impairment is based on a number of key assumptions, including
estimations of future revenue, terminal growth rates and the
discount rates applied.

We identified the impairment of intangible assets to be a key
audit matter because the preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves significant management judgement, which

could be subjective.

Our audit procedures to assess whether impairment of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives included the
following:

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model, including management’s identification
of the CGUs;

e comparing the actual results of the CGUs for the current
year with the forecasts adopted by management in the
discounted cash flow forecasts for the prior year to assess
the effectiveness of management’s forecasting process,
making enquiries of management as to the reasons for
any significant variations identified and considering if there
was any indication of management bias;

e  obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group and
assessing the independence, qualifications, expertise and
objectivity of the independent external valuer;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

e  discussing with the external valuer and evaluating the
valuation methodology adopted with reference to the
prevailing accounting standards and assessing the
discount rates, with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists;

e  challenging the key assumptions used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management such as
future revenue, terminal growth rates with the historical
performance of the relevant CGUs and other available
third-party information;

° performing sensitivity analysis of the discount rates and
terminal growth rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions to the
conclusion reached in the impairment assessment and
considering whether there were any indicators of
management bias; and

e considering the reasonableness of the Group’s disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of its
impairment assessment of the intangible assets with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2023, the inventories of the Group amounted
to HK$33,532,000. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value (“NRV”) in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Sales of inventories in the fashion industry can be volatile due
to changing fashion trends, consumer demand and economic
conditions.

The changing tastes and patterns of consumption of customers
require the Group to periodically review its inventory portfolio
and dispose of off-season inventories at a markdown from the
original price to maintain the strength of the brands and make
room for new season inventories in its retail stores.

The Executive Director and senior members of the sales team
review the full inventory list regularly to identify inventories which
may need to be discounted in order to increase their chances
of being sold. Key data used in this review process includes
sales volume history and ageing patterns of inventories.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories
included the following:

e assessing whether the inventory provision at the reporting
date was consistent with the Group’s inventory provisioning
policy by recalculating the inventory provision based on
the percentages of inventory costs and other parameters
in the Group’s inventory provisioning policy;

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket;

e assessing the Group’s inventory provisioning policy by
comparing the amounts of inventories which will be unsold
at the end of the reporting period with historical sales data
for the current and prior years;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the NRV of inventories as a key audit matter
because significant judgements and assumptions are involved
by management in estimating the amounts of inventories which
will be unsold at the end of each reporting period and the
markdowns necessary to sell such off-season inventories on
a discounted basis through outlets and other channels in the
following years.

e comparing the carrying amount of the inventories at the
reporting date to their NRV by reviewing the sales of
inventories subsequent to the reporting date;

e comparing inventory balances by season against
respective balances in prior years and the movement by
season against historical movements to identify inventories
which are relatively slow moving; and

e  enquiring of the Executive Director and senior members
of the sales team about any expected changes in plans
for markdowns or disposals of off-season inventories and
comparing their representations with actual sales
transactions subsequent to the reporting date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheng Pui Ngar.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
## = F =4 = H =+ — H Ik 4F ¥ For the year ended 31 March 2023

(L4 7 L 5 71~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

B 5 2023 2022

Note $°000 $°000
WA Revenue 384 214,129 211,489
B AN R B LA Cost of sales and direct costs (70,289) (77,021)
EH ) Gross profit 143,840 134,468
At i 25 13 R Other net gain 5 1,695 7,317
73§ A - Distribution costs (117,045) (106,656)
A7 B B HoAth 58 %% 2 Administrative and other operating expenses (50,154) (50,518)
gy oE | Loss from operations (21,664) (15,389)
G LA (E IR AR Valuation gains on investment properties 11(a) 9,259 6,405
# ERE Y E Gain on disposal of investment properties 11(f) - 13,336
fill AR Finance costs 6(a) (2,366) (2,379)
B B Wi Ofs 1) %t A (Loss)/profit before taxation 6 (14,771) 1,973
T 45 B S Income tax credit 7(a) 75 167
A AR Ol 1) %e A (Loss)/profit for the year (14,696) 2,140
g - Attributable to:
ENVNEIE: EC T § Equity shareholders of the Company (18,771) 3,284
I P I HE 55 Non-controlling interests (925) (1,144)
A AR Ol 1) 7 % A (Loss)/profit for the year (14,696) 2,140
5% ) B (Loss)/earnings per share 10
B XS T Basic and diluted $(0.08) $0.02

WATEH FFBHZ it B AU B IRKZ — ot - &
AT A 23 ] 1 2 B HT 1 JE B 7 17 9 A it 7 4 23 () TH
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The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 23(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
B =F = =Z4F =H =+—H I %F JF For the year ended 31 March 2023
(L4 JC 1 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2023 2022
$°000 $'000

AR (B H) %A (Loss)/profit for the year (14,696) 2140
7 AR B 04l 2 i M 3% (I Bk BLIE S . Other comprehensive income for the year (after

Wik B hEIL) tax and reclassification adjustment of $Nil)
J 1% AT RE 5 40 HH 7 18 Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit

ZIHH : or loss:
P 55 7 U5 DL AN B & A ) Exchange differences on translation of

Yo 5 ik R i A AR financial statements of subsidiaries

HE 58, 75 % outside Hong Kong (7,113) (5,884)
7 A7 BE 3G b 2 Thi G 2k Other comprehensive income for the year (7,113) (5,884)
7 45 B 2 Thi K 4 48 78 Total comprehensive income for the year (21,809) (3,744)
b )& - Attributable to:
A2 E) HE £ IR Equity shareholders of the Company (20,330) (2,835)
I PE I HE 25 Non-controlling interests (1,479) (909)
7 AF 2 T K % 4 8 Total comprehensive income for the year (21,809) (3,744)
FATH B FEIBHZ Wil AR M B R KZ — it o The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B LFE D=4 = H = A — H At 31 March 2023

(Ll oc 51 7R~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

fh T 2023 2022
Note $°000 $°000
It Wy ¥ Non-current assets
"Gk Investment properties 11 186,345 186,806
HoAl ) 2 - Wk m Bsk Other property, plant and equipment 11 57,270 53,042
. 243,615 239,848
I A E Intangible assets 12 133,442 133,442
HH 4 ¥ 4 Rental deposits 7,346 4,415
W I B E Deferred tax assets 21(b) 121 281
384,524 377,986
i B & Current assets
fEEE &2 #5 Trading securities 13 10,610 17,119
fr & Inventories 14(a) 33,532 38,917
B W B S B HL Al JE i Rk Trade and other receivables 15 37,023 41,801
7 #A w B [B] BTE Current tax recoverable 21(a) 318 317
e LB &S EY Cash and cash equivalents 16(a) 118,120 132,788
199,603 230,942
RS Current liabilities
RATIE X Bank overdrafts 18 4 7,049
JRE AT T R B L th 1 AF 3k B Trade and other payables and contract
A 7 & % liabilities 17 42,510 36,904
IEN= =K Lease liabilities 19 25,924 26,657
A5 ) JRE A5 B IH Current tax payable 21(a) 5 319
68,443 70,929
B A Net current assets 131,160 160,013
HOF R W B AR Total assets less current liabilities 515,684 537,999
FE Wi B £ 15 Non-current liabilites |
HEAE Lease liabilities 19 37,133 29,325
% A8 B IH A R Deferred tax liabilities 21(b) 934 1,004
38,067 30,329
¥ 7 ¥ i NET ASSETS 477,617 507,670
JBe A K il i CAPITAL AND RESERVES
B A Share capital 23(c) 383,909 383,909
ol A Reserves 86,515 115,089
A 2y i) R 2% B W Total equity attributable to equity
M A R 2 44 78 shareholders of the Company 470,424 498,098
I P& Bt B 2 Non-controlling interests 7,193 8,672
BE 2 AL TOTAL EQUITY 477,617 507,670
EHEEGN F ZFANH T ILH KRR Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
e A o 2023.
Bl 7k % ) Chan Wing Sun, Samuel )
) )
) #EH ) Directors
B ) Chan Suk Ling, Shirley )
) )

FATEHEF1IBHZ MGk R B K Z —ab -

4F #t 2022/23 Annual Report

The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B =F = =Z4F =H =+—H I %F JF For the year ended 31 March 2023
(L4 JC 1 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8 A R
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
i3 RA  SHERE  EERE  REES aE FehmdEs 0 EE4H
Share Exchange  Revaluation Retained Non-controlling
Note capital reserve reserve profits Total interests  Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $:000
(W5 23(c)  (WHFaE23())) (K &k 23(d)i)
MNote23c)  (Note 23(d)  (Note 23())
RZFZ—NJ—N0  Balanceat1April 2021 383,909 (35,970) 13,432 177,515 538,886 20,042 558,928
W Changes in equity:
AERREH/ (ER) Profit/foss) for the year . , } 3,984 3284 (1,144 2140
il A Other comprehensive income - 6,119) _ - 6,19 935 15,884)
AEERTRESH Total comprehensive income - (6,119 - 3084 12,835) (909) (3,744)
EHEAHME AT Realisation of translation I
Rt feserve Upon deregistration
‘ of a subsidiary - (3,881) - - (3,881) - (3.881)
BEFECHER Dividends approved and
E AT RS paid in respect of
previous year 230 - - - {658 (1658) - (1658)
REFLERR Dividends declared and
SYoge:t paid in respect of
current year 23()() - - - (16,586) (16,586) - (16,586)
AT B 2 Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - - _ _ _ (10,461) (10,461)
RZZZZ4=H=1—H Balance at 31 March 2022
RZRZZHENA-H and 1 April 2022 383,909 (45,970) 13,432 147,627 498,998 8,672 507,670
W% Changes in equity:
$$T§J§ﬂﬁ Loss for the year _ _ _ (13,771) (13.771) (925) (14,696)
Kb 2wl Other comprehensive income - (6,559) ; _ 6,559) 1554) 7.113
AR 2T Total comprehensive income . (6,559) . (13.771) 120,330) (1,479 21809
BB ARz Realisation of translation o
i ff reserve upon deregstration
of a subsidiary - 49 - - 49 - 49
BEFECHIE Dividends approved and
EfTRE paid in respect of
previous year 23(o) - - - 6299) 8.299 - 8.293)
B-F-Z4#=H=+—H Balanceat31 March 2023 383,909 (652,480) 13,432 125,563 470,424 7,193 477,617

FATH B FEIBHZ Wil AR M B K Z — it o

The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

#E ZF = =4 = H =+ — H Ik 4F & For the year ended 31 March 2023

(Ll oc 51 7R~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

W 5 2023 2022
Note $°000 $'000
gl Operating activities
mEEHEL () 284  Cash generated from/(used in) operations 16(b) 38,938 (3,828)
£ AT B 1A Tax paid
— B A A BB — Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (131) (290)
— C A A DL AP [ B IH — Tax paid outside Hong Kong - (280)
— 18 [n] & 9 15 B - Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 2 402
(129) (168)
KEWBAL (i) 284 Netcash generated from/(used in)

bl operating activities 38,809 (3,996)
BEWE D Investing activities
Vg A At ) 25~ Tk 5 RN A Payment for the purchase of other property,

[ plant and equipment (4,689) (6,441)
R BE ) AT K Payment for the addition of investment

properties - (5,699)
H R % W) 2E T 15 FOE Proceeds from disposal of investment

properties - 96,886
EMEEE w55 G Proceeds from disposal of trading securities

I 5,379 -
A H A W) 2~ Rk SR R A Proceeds from disposal of other property,

B 15 3C3H plant and equipment 195 _
£l A Interest received 1,230 087
B W) A 2 Bl A A Net cash generated from investing

activities 2,115 85,033
T 35 ) Financing activities
E AT AR B A 4 1 G AR 4 Capital element of lease rentals paid 16(c) (34,810) (43,194)
£ S A A B L 4 0 R EL R 4y Interest element of lease rentals paid 16(c) (2,366) (2,114)
F B 3 Interest paid - (265)
B A Oy A RE 4 R 2 i B Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the

Company (8,293) (33,172)
E A I 2 B HE 4 A B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - (10,461)
Tl W 9T T 2 B A Net cash used in financing activities (45,469) (89,206)
Bl & K BLA 5 B WA 58 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,545) (8,169)
RAENZHERBASSED Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year 125,739 133,559
Hh W BE 3 55 W) 2 58 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (3,078) 349
RAERZRE KRB E&58Y Cash and cash equivalents at the end of

the year 16(a) 118,116 125,739

FATHEF1IBHZ MGk R B E£Z — a5 -
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The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5345 P #5 5~ 25 LItk o0 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1

ER R Sl

(a)

(b)
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A e WK EH S AR L WA
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RN SR RR SR B
AR RN A B R B R
B 53 26 1 (c) JH o

B K 2 A B
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HIT 0 ) 2 R A 0 1) i e R

1 Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (‘HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
20283 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below:

—  investment properties, including interests in leasehold land
and buildings held as investment properties where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(f);
and

—  trading securities (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 5 45 Br 5 4F - # L1 o % 717 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 3 % &5k ¥R (s

(b)

(c)

(d)

B 5 A Z A R (A7)
A A T RE T T T B R
SUJBRF T A i 3 A B B ik R A K R
BV L) B A R AR E R
w17 HOO A B RE S 20 o

7 it B R )

TG Ea s g B E T &Y
B ok e ) 2 B ST > I A 4 B
Traat MM B R - 5% % kR
55 B P A RCEC R B A I
9 A 399 B AT 200 28 A % B IR L AR
AR -

A AR B I M TE BLAT & F R BR A AT
AT ¥ oA A 2 o HE ) B R

Fif g 2 7] & Ff i i 1 ik

WhF J 2> W) o A S T BT R o 2 A e
AR AR R AR 2 L R
1M 7R 38 B A R B 2 [l Wil AT RE T
S RGP R RE DA 2 e R
AR T O R CE B o R E AR M
& B A W5 RERI IR - 85 I (5 H
Al T3 BT 45 A 1)) BRRE A o

Wi g 2~ W) 5 & oh R A 4 o HE DA 4 R
BFAGR & BB R R B2 6
Hedb By ak o 5B R 2 A ] 2 A R
3 oy BB i > KR A
B 5y BT A 2 AT AR R A B A
T T A A B B R IR A T I B
e 1 o B 2 58 T B i A 2 R B
B 1R % SR 5 B4R A (R 2 O 5K
B - M SRR A R B B R 1R A B
A ARG DL o

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group. None of these developments has had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented in this financial
report.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
issued by HKICPA that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Investments in subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 1(n) or (0) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(g)) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note

1))
Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments, other than investments in
subsidiaries, are set out below.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Other investments (continued)

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note 24(f)(i).
These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification:

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest method (see note

1(OV).

—  Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
(recycling), if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows
and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

—  FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(j)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 1(t)(iii).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property held for own use, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1j)(ii):

— interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is
the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(j));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold or
leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest (see note 1(j)); and

— items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see
note 1(i)).

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed, any difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term of
the lease.

—  The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of
the lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more
than 50 years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10 years

—  Leasehold improvements, motor vehicles

and furniture and equipment 2 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

@)

Trademark acquired by the Group with an indefinite estimated
useful life are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii).
Expenditure on internally generated brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of an
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)

Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 1(g) and 1(j)(ii), except for the right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of investment property are carried
at fair value in accordance with note 1(f).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are rent concessions that occured as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met
the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised the
change in consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The
rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 1(t)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note 1(j)(i), then
the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

()  Credit losses and impairment of assets

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables); and

—  lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to
the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(0

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate;

— leasereceivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(G) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is
90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due date;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

G

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(v)
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the asset becomes 365 days past due or
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit
or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(G) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets (other than properties carried at revalued
amounts);

—  pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being
held under an operating lease;

- intangible assets; and

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(0

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

Areversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(iiy  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see note 1())).

(k) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course
of business, in the process of production for such sale or in the
form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production
process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costis calculated using the first-in, first-out formula and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5 45 B 15 4F - # L1t o % 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

o

(m)

(n)

(0)

(»)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(t)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 1(m)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and
other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method and including allowance for
credit losses (see note1())())).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note

(V).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1())(i).

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report

60



61

& G W iR B st

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 5345 P 5 5~ 25 Li-itk o0 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1

F % 5 BOR (8
) %Eﬁﬂ

(r)

() FHAE B A8 A I A BOoR
Wﬁ% ik 3K

W AFEAEAL ARFEMR - H
FE Pk OB R RE ) 2 R K %
VR BWE A R R A B
e 18 B $2 00 A B IR 5 < 4F A

A o R A R R A e
B R GBS 6% 5 RN R B
EF iR -

(i) WEW AR A

e TR R AR S I
ﬁ@iwﬁﬂ&ﬁ&iﬁﬂi
8 M 2 B AL AR e B I e R
B ) o

T 1 B

A A TE BT 4% B4 AR ) B IE K IR I
Bl E & =B AR 2 SE) - ARBLIA
Jo % A B IH G A M A R 2 SR ) I TR
18 46 AR - M W MO L b 4 T
W 4t B HE R HE AR P RERR R JE H
S ol 7 EL Al 2 T W i R i AR o

A B T i AR A T R SRR B AR
BORTRAERE W RAEE LCH
11 2 Bl A a2 TR A BLIE -
b DA A R A B JE 2 AT ] 3

I SiE Bl TE K EE M B 23 B R AT AR A
IR R 0T Wy 2 B AR o W o2 B
REEEMARSMBE RS HNZ
M ThT (L B % 2 O M A 2 R B
B 2 22 5o R IE BLIH & E AT Ll
A B BLE G HE L

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q9)

(r)

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)
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Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exception to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(f), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)

(s)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement
is limited to the carrying amount of the provision.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

®

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of printing and related services,
the licensing or the use by others of the Group’s assets under
leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of garments and printing
products is recognised when goods are delivered to the
customers’ premises or picked up by customers for
domestic sales and when goods are shipped on board for
export sales which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer takes possession and accepted the goods.

(i) Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.

(iv) Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

—  Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

®

Revenue and other income (continued)

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset.

(v  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the exchange reserve.
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V)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(u)

w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(1) Aperson, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
1o, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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2 Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 11(b) and 24 contain information about the assumptions and
their risk factors relating to valuation of investment properties and
financial instruments. Other significant sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Impairment of other property, plant and equipment and intangible

assets

The Group assesses whether these non-current assets may be
impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note

1()(i).

The recoverable amounts of these non-current assets have been
determined based on the greater of value-in-use and fair value
less costs of disposal. These calculations require the use of
judgement and estimates, in particular of future revenue, future
profit margin and terminal growth rate. Due to inherent risk
associated with the estimations, the estimated recoverable
amount of the assets may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and the Group’s profit or loss could be affected by the
accuracy of the estimations.

(b) Write-down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses, projections
of expected future saleability of goods and management
experience and judgement. Based on this review, a write down
of inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable value
decline below their carrying amounts of inventories. Due to
changes in customers’ preferences and actual saleability of goods
may be different from estimation, profit or loss in future accounting
periods could be affected by differences in this estimation.
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3 Revenue

printing products.

()  Disaggregation of revenue

The principal activities of the Group are garment wholesaling and
retailing, trademark ownership and licensing, property investment and
provision of security printing, general business printing and trading of

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

W g 40 significant category of revenue is as follows:
2023 2022
$000 $000
v WE %5 W5 ME W) 481598 9 Bl Revenue from contracts with customers
ME %P A HBA within the scope of HKFRS 15
5 8 AR Sales of garments 161,416 158,844
SR ME B T AR BRI AR Royalty and related income 18,644 18,518
EIV R B AH BA I 75 0 4 Income from printing and related services 27,730 28,689
207,790 206,051
L JERNR Y PN Revenue from other sources
G A AR Gross rentals from investment properties
—HEMNZEEEHRIKEFE - lease payments that are fixed or depend
W R % on an index or a rate 6,339 5,438
214,129 211,489

W AKH R 53 J8 i A R M T T
35 B 5 0 W R 5 A0) JH -

AEMZEFREZ L REE
e S ) G e |
= — Bk I R R E S
oy B A LM AR 22— -
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A 4E ] OB AN U R IR A HE R A
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RBELHHXEHFENER > AadEAR
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographical location is disclosed in note 4(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no individual
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 and therefore the information about the remaining
performance obligation is not disclosed for contracts that have
an original expected duration of one year or less and also for
those performance obligations which are regarded as satisfied
as invoiced.
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4 Segment reporting

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following four reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

—  Sales of garments: wholesaling and retailing of garments.

—  Licensing of trademarks: management and licensing of
trademarks for royalty income.

—  Printing and related services: provision of security printing
and sale of printed products.

—  Property rental: leasing of properties to generate rental
income.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current
assets with the exception of deferred tax assets, trading securities,
current tax recoverable, cash and cash equivalents and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and contract liabilities, lease liabilities and bank
overdrafts with the exception of current tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities and other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit or loss is “EBITDA”,
i.e. “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and impairment
loss on non-current assets before intra-group elimination”, where
“interest” includes investment income.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning EBITDA,
management is provided with segment information concerning
revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest income and
expenses from cash balances and borrowings managed directly
by the segments, depreciation and impairment losses and
additions to non-current segment assets used by the segments
in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference
to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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4 5w E) 4 Segment reporting (continued)
(a) SFEBEH - & EK A (H) (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
BRE_F =N _F___HF=H Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
=+ —HIEEE AMEEKS BT provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
BN B BAS A B A 4 B 2 W R the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
BB (DA G A 47 B IR 4 L M o B R performance for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 is set
BLEEAR) > BERE QT E out below:

KAMREF ZIBA
Revenue from external customers
S BTA

Inter-segment revenue

CES Vi 1IN

Reportable segment revenue

MRALE BB 3 06 R R
3098 7 s O
EBITDA

FEHA

Interest income

F8 S

Interest expense

REFZHE

Depreciation for the year

A% R R he 2w
E#

Impairment loss on other property,
plant and equipment

HHE B ol g

Gain on lease modifications

VES P48 343

Reportable segment assets

KEEREFRDAIBERE

Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year

VES P8 § 1

Reportable segment liabilities

158,844 211,489

4,669

158,844 216,158

34,931

23 25

(994) (152) (2,211)

(27,381) (1,207) (28,894)

1,910 1,910

498,612 140,228 199,729 852,759

36,087 5,699 40,866

455,622 16,223 487,703
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4 5 WA s 4 Segment reporting (continued)
(b) HEHRPHUA- B BERA (b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets
i = # AR and liabilities
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
PN Revenue
JH 2wk A Reportable segment revenue 217,353 216,158
43 0 U A 22 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (3,224) (4,669)
RN Consolidated revenue 214,129 211,489
it 7 Profit
R FLE - B - 4 8 KR T EBITDA
) (s 2 A 26,770 34,931
DL B 1A N BB 2 BB 7 AL Interest income on financial assets measured at
e A amortised cost 1,230 087
g Depreciation (38,381) (33,751)
HibWE - s kM2 Impairment loss on other property, plant and
W (E B 4R equipment (4,472) _
il A Finance costs (2,366) (2,379)
PV S UNCINS S Unallocated head office and corporate income 2,448 2885
BRBLAT 454 OB 1),k 46 Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation (14,771) 1,073
% Assets
HEW TG Reportable segment assets 855,045 852,759
3 T8 14 K 2 B Elimination of inter-segment receivables (409,615) (400,461)
445,430 452,298
IR J0E B JH e Deferred tax assets 121 281
TEEEH®ZHES Trading securities 10,610 17,119
75 9 AR ) B IE Current tax recoverable 318 317
B kR &E /Y Cash and cash equivalents 118,120 132,788
Ko BL 2 HN T BAd SEE Unallocated head office and corporate assets 9,528 6,125
HEMEE Consolidated total assets 584,127 608,928
=K Liabilities
BB A Reportable segment liabilities 498,595 487,703
G F8 T B AT 3R 2 L B Elimination of inter-segment payables (409,615) (400,461)
88,980 87,242
A1 B A+ o 754 Current tax payable 5 319
i S B A B fE Deferred tax liabilities 934 1,004
KBz BAT RAEAE Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 16,591 12,693
SHRMBARK Consolidated total liabilities 106,510 101,258
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4 4 HE s

(c) Hb I 7 &8 &

RS M o) ) ERL () A% SR
KEMNREF ZWARG)AELEZ
BOE W) 3 - HA W 3 - RS B il
mEEE (HEFRBEE]) - KF
i I oy A 2 R A B A O R B B
ah % L T AR E JR B E E
HoAb W 2 - g5 K sk M 09 M 5 23 A
Je R HCE KR T TR TR E A
F14 188 7 A 2 2 7 A L O A Ml

(c)

4 Segment reporting (continued)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets (“specified non-current assets”).
The geographical location of customers is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods delivered. The
geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of other property,
plant and equipment, and the location to which they are managed,
in the case of intangible assets.

K H A A% P B ¥ € I O ) % R
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
2023 2022 2023 2022
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000
B s (G i) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 126,514 103,083 61,820 55,534
=R Taiwan 3,061 5,799 1,608 982
R A b Mainland China 60,612 79,338 18,303 27,833
e [ The United Kingdom 6,339 4,912 186,345 186,806
HoAs Others 17,603 18,357 108,981 102,135
87,615 108,406 315,237 317,756
214,129 211,489 377,057 373,290
5 b W A% i B 5 Other net gain
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
IR A A OB 5) Government subsidies (note) 4,788 -
DL & R A A HE 2 W% % FI . Interest income on financial assets measured
e A at amortised cost 1,230 287
MEMEEE N ZE S I Gain on disposal of trading securities 110 _
FEEM®EZERMNA MBI  Change in fair value of trading securities
B 5 (18) 34
W H B 2 Bk KR AL Loss on disposal of other property, plant and
Z e R equipment (538) (11)
AN B N E B ks (Loss)/gain on deregistration of subsidiaries (334) 3,928
[ 58 (G 48) Wi 35 1% 40 Net exchange (loss)/gain (5,278) 1175
H A Others 1,735 1,904
1,695 7,317

ffsE: 2R - =F =H =+ —HILFE, A4
(o] A48 A 9 R I AT B I B RE ST LR AT
5k 26 2 1% w1 @ #E 34,298,000 0C » R TE &
1l 300 1T R 4 B8 NIG 6 T A 4 RS SO AP B D o
WA > AR B2 ] R B B HR R IR PR AT B I
JiF & B P A A A 2E 09 % B 490,000 T

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group was granted $4,298,000 from
the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for not to make
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying
wages to its employees. In addition, the Group also successfully applied for $490,000
funding support from the Macau Special Administrative Region for eligible enterprise
in Macau.
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6 (Loss)/profit before taxation

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
$°000 $000
(@ MlE A (@  Finance costs
SRAT I SR B Interest expense on bank overdrafts - 265
B A B ALE (B k56 16(0) ) Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(c)) 2,366 2114
2,366 2,379
b) B LA (b)  Staff costs*
FrE A FOR PR FL B Contributions to defined contribution
Z K retirement plans* 4,879 5778
Bl TE R HAMARF Salaries, wages and other benefits 73,733 77911
78,612 83,689
© HiEH ©) Otheritems
23 & S| Auditors’ remuneration
— BB H — audit services 2,749 2574
— B B ~ tax services 3% 206
— HoAl e B - other services 38 87
3,113 2,867
P85 2 - (B 5 58 11 () JH) Depreciation charge* (note 11(a))
— AN BB Kk - owned property, plant and equipment 3,474 2894
— i M - right-of-use assets 34,907 30,857
Hih 2~ W5 Kl 2 o (H fe 4R Impairment loss on other property, plant and
(Bt 55 25 11(0) H) equipment (note 11(a))
— AN BB Rk — owned property, plant and equipment 1,221 _
— M ~ right-of-use assets 3,251 -
518 ok 43 Gain on lease modifications (174) (1,910)
TR 3K 2 AL 1R, (BT 2 24(a) TH) Impairment loss on trade debtors (note 24(a)) 330 2727
WS R T 2 (s A I Reversal of impairment loss on trade
(B 5E 57 24(a) ) debtors (note 24(a)) (809) (8,683)
BEE W) 3 T i 8 el B Rentals receivable from investment
% 2,294,000 7T properties less direct outgoings of
(=% Z 241 4,012,0007€) $2,294,000 (2022: $4,012,000) (4,045) (1,426)
18 A (B 5T 55 14(0) 1) Cost of inventories* (note 14(0)) 67,995 73,009
R A ) Reversal of provision for claims - (5,478)

FHEERAEERA THRA LT ERNARZ
10,418,000 7C ( % — L 4F : 10,288,000 7t ) © A
BORIN O Rl A b 3R K R 5 6(b) JH A B SR 2

A A .

CORECECSESAS A A W
PR 1 2 o ACHE A 3 86 9 L9 it

FE L E D) -

* Cost of inventories includes $10,418,000 (2022: $10,288,000) relating to staff costs
and depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

separately above or in note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

# As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its

contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2022: $Nil).
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7

BEaBaEmyZ b 7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss
(a) ZHEBEBEHINZHIE# ¢ (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
AW BEIE — & WA 1B Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
A A £t Provision for the year 30 383
DA 4F 15 o 7 458 Over-provision in respect of prior years (1) (155)
29 228
A B — DA AN IR Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
DAAE: 45 5 98 70 438 4 Over-provision in respect of prior years (198) -
(198) -
9B 9 B8 Deferred tax
TEE A I 43 [ R A 2 B Origination and reversal of temporary differences 94 (395)
(75) (167)

TR TSRS NGB B
iz A4 B Al ST M SR BL BE R 1Y 16.5%
(B T4 1 16.5%) 5H5E -

A s LA b 1 B 2 w2 B IE I
AR B 1 2 08 2 BLAT B AR

A A R AR T O I E R AR LR
F19% (% — Z4F 1 19%) °

AR B R R A 4 T AR P I A B 3
WA A PR A 25% (& —
41 25%) o

e P 2 N R IEAN B ([ ) Bk R -
S B 1% R IR R Ik
10% FHANBL « SR 10 > ZH Bl 10% F 41
BB S  EAKA -FE/)NE—
H — B R O A RS o
B B A B TE A R
RARCRRC R 3-8 7E R UIIE 3 S
TE A0 B AP o AR PR P BB A 2
] Y o BB % P A R I A
A5 W B0 HR B 2 ) BT ST B AT A
Jie S8 4% 5% 119 TH 41 Bl A B A FH AN B

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is calculated
at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries based outside Hong Kong is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions.

The corporate tax rate applicable to the Group’s operations in
the United Kingdom is 19% (2022: 19%) for the year.

The Corporate Income Tax rate applicable to the Group’s
operations in Mainland China is 25% (2022: 25%) for the year.

Under the tax law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), a
10% withholding tax shall be levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, however,
only the dividends attributable to the profits of the financial period
starting from 1 January 2008 will be subject to withholding tax.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
arrangement between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investor. Pursuant to a double tax arrangement between the PRC
and Hong Kong, the Group is subject to a withholding tax at a
rate of 5% for any dividend payments from its PRC subsidiaries.
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7 BEASBEBEEMMWZHS B (8) 7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
pl‘Ofit or loss (continued)

(b) JF 78 Bl at A Fu g At (5 $H) W a5 1%

(b) Reconciliation between tax credit and accounting (loss)/profit at

R A 8 w1 25 383(1) e e (22 Al (4
e T S5 M) 2 R KL 5 280 2 B T B

TZEHRMEWT

BB ERGFEZ R applicable tax rates:
2023 2022
$000 $000
W BT (5 18) s A (Loss)/profit before taxation (14,771) 1973
T BB 7E AR BB B 2 %8 ) Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation,
Bl R G R B AT (ks 4R) 7 calculated at the rates applicable in the
i F| < 45 & BLIH countries concerned (2,825) 1,689
ENGEEiY a2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,617 3,203
T ARBLIA Z B IH % Tax effect of non-taxable income (2,743) (4,081)
& R A By B I A TE M Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
T IRF P 22 5L 22 Bl IH 5 2 temporary differences not recognised 5,845 1,096
DL 4E B Rl 5E 2 R ) T B JE  Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
T HE AR R M 25 LR 4E A temporary differences not recognised in
Bl 2 B I s prior year but utilised during the year (1,923) (2,819)
KOFFEGRC AT E fERR 2 M IE  Derecognition of deferred tax previously
i 16 recognised 153 _
DA 45 J8E 22 1 38 Over-provision in respect of prior years (199) (155)
HBEBLUEFEA Actual tax credit (75) (167)
8 HIFM & 8 Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

as follows:
¥A - WM R WK
A 4 B
Salaries, ) 5€ 46 41 Retirement
WY 4  allowances and Discretionary scheme 5
Directors’ fees benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
A7 & Executive directors
B 7k 4% Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 40 40 11,122 1,122 63 - - 1,225 1,162
JAI BRI 2% Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 40 40 1 1,409 1,409 79 - - - 1,528 1,449
1R s Fu Sing Yam, Wiliam 40 401,812 1812 92 - 90 90 2,034 1,942
B 3% 2k (8 — & Chan Andrew (retired on

TFELA 23 September 2022)

—+=HIEM) - 40 - 480 - - - 25 - 545
WK 22 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 40 40 - _ _ _ - _ 40 40
B i AL Chan Wing Kee 40 40 - _ - _ - _ 40 40
W H#AT  Independent

g non-executive directors
IEAE I Choi Ting Ki 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
WF So Stephen Hon Cheung 130 130 - - - _ - _ 130 130
M Li Guangming 130 130 = - = - = - 130 130

590 630 = 4,343 4,823 234 - 90 115 5,257 5,568

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report

76



77

A W Bk M EE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5345 P #5 5~ 25 LItk o0 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

9 R AE AL

ERLfMERS 2 ALd . (0%
TR =) B A B e SR
WM e B E N F = HF = A
=t —HIEHAA L2 e AENT

9 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2022: three)
are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
emoluments of the other individual for the year ended 31 March 2023
are as follows:

2023 2022

$°000 $'000

Wr s S H A Salaries and other emoluments 2,481 2571
Y 7 1€ AL Discretionary bonuses 79 208
B AR E K Retirement scheme contributions 18 18
2,578 2,817

WA S i 4 At (& = 4 iz A
H T 4 A 1 51 [ R

The emoluments of the two (2022: two) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

2023 2022
N N #
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000 7& $1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1 1
1,000,001 7t £ 1,500,000 7T $1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1 1
10 %5 B O ) @A 10 (Loss)/earnings per share

(a) TR (1]). ~#F

TR (4R LR 2 R IR R
A 2 RN ) ME AR B R IE AG ks 1R

13,771,000 o ( = & = Z 4 i@
3,284,000) K B ¥ 17 % W A B ¥
165,864,000 i ( — & — . 4
165,864,000 i) 74 -

(b) TFIRHEH (1E), B A
BE-FZ-"FR_F_H-H

== HIEFE A2 A A
A T AE i RE D R e g
JeHE A (s 18) 7 8 A1) B 45 i 0 (ks
) /B A

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of $13,771,000 (2022: profit of $3,284,000) and 165,864,000
(2022: 165,864,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. Accordingly, the diluted
(loss)/earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/earnings

per share.
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11 Investment properties and other property, plant

Bk 5 and equipment
(a) HEH1H 2 HHR (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
A2 i S
ER )3 £ Rl R
Fiti bR AR 15 10 3 5 A
Ownership HihE Leasehold
interests in Other BiR %  improvements,
land and properties # % motor vehicles, #EHE
buildings held leasedfor ~ Plantand  furniture and ANt Investment it
for own use ownuse machinery equipment  Sub-total  properties Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000
B AR A £ Cost or valuation:
REFZ WA~ At 1 Apri 2021 31,653 152127 21441 M204 246425 265024 511,449
i 37, 74 % Exchange adjustments - 1,071 4 118 1,198 6,772) (6,579
HE-REBT Adjustments - lease modifications - 11,196 - - 11,196 - 11,196
hE Adaftions - 20,082 - 6,441 26,523 5600 3222
ik Disposals - (57,340) - (1,634) (58,974) (83550)  (142,524)
ARERE Fair value adjustment - - - - - 6,405 6,405
RZFEZZHE=ZA=+—H At31 March 2022 G168 127136 21445 46120 206363 186806 413169
R%: Representing:
A Cost 31,653 127,136 21,445 46,129 226,363 - 2063683
hE-—%F - F Valuation - 2022 - - - - - 186806 186,806
31,653 127,136 21,445 46,129 226,363 186,806 413,169
R-FZ_HENA-H At Apr 2022 31,653 127,136 21,445 46,129 226,363 186,806 413,169
L}EM Exchange adjusiments - (2,669 @ @9 3146 @720 (12.866)
HE-HEBT Adjustments - lease modfications - 16,966 - - 16,966 - 16,966
NE B Additions - 21,772 1,492 4,657 33,921 - 33,921
R Disposals and early termination - 45,114) (1,456) (10,074) (56,644) _ (56,644)
AR Fair value adjustment - - - - - 9,259 9,259
SESZRIAZECR A Mach 229 B MM 2T A2 2T TR5 400805
Rk Representing:
A Cost 31,653 124,097 21477 40,233 217,460 - 217,460
- —%-=F Valuation - 2023 - - - - - 186345 186,345
31,653 124,097 21,477 40,233 217,460 186,345 403,805
il E Accumulated depreciation:
RE-—#ENA—H At1 April 2021 24,965 117,517 17,989 37,422 197,893 - 197,893
T 5. 78 4 Exchange adjustments - 509 4 7 640 - 640
KR # Charge for the year 282 29,360 1,124 2,985 33,751 - 33,751
16 I 4 Written back on disposals - (57,340) - (1623 (58963 - (58,969)
REFZZHEZAZT—H A31 March 2022 25,247 90,136 19,117 38,821 173,321 - 173321
REEZ DN~ At1 Apri 2022 25,247 90,136 19,117 38,821 173,321 - 173321
HE 3t Exchange adjustments - (1,102) @ (134) (1,240) - (1,240)
KR H Charge for the year 282 33,464 1,118 3517 38381 - 383
HEER Impairment loss - 3,251 - 1,221 4,472 - 4,472
1 I Written back on disposals - (43947) (1412) 9,385) (54,744) - (54,744)
ZEZZEZAZ4—H At31March 2023 25,529 81,802 18,819 34,040 160,190 - 160,190
G 4 ¢ Net book value:
BEEZ=H=A=+—H  At31March 2023 6,124 42,29 2,668 6,193 57,270 186,345 243,615
CECCHEZAZ+—H At81 March 2022 6,406 37,000 2,328 7,308 53,042 186,806 239,848
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11 EWERELHE WG
B ik 5 (m)

(a) JETH 16 < # 1 (A7)
8 (EL A5 4R

HE - F A=+ —HIM4EE
EHL AR YR A B R B E A WA
&t BOR S AR E B EE G 250
HAWY 2 ~ W AT W E R -
RIS EEAL - B MY E WME X
B B A5 W (E B 18 5 4,472,000 6 (-
FAE R WA R E
A M o HoAth ¥ 2~ Wk 5 B s T
Wkl TR A G RNA
B 28 T R AT BB A R AR R 4R
W A A T R 2 B4 R R E

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(a)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Impairment loss

During the year ended 31 March 2023, management performed
an impairment assessment on certain property, plant and
equipment of the Group’s retail stores in accordance with the
accounting policy on impairment of non-current assets. Based
on the assessment, an impairment loss of $4,472,000 (2022:
$Nil) was recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2023. The recoverable amounts of these other property,
plant and equipment were determined based on the estimated
future cash flows generated from these retail stores for the
remaining non-cancellable lease term of the respective retail stores
at a discount rate as follows:

PrEFmE
2023 2022
s I Hong Kong and Macau 15% N/A
Hh B A Mainland China 15% N/A
(b) BREYHIZL MG R (b) Fair value measurement of investment properties
()  ASELEHE ()  Fair value hierarchy
TREVAEHBEYEZ R The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s

FAE > W% F TE Y R
RAE R RS E I M
o 7 i T R A R I S8R 4
AAE R R R E 2 =8N UE
TG o o A SUE R R B S
A T3 882 25 0 Ak (E D i B
iy A BPE 2 R B X B
R

S AR BEE R R
Wi A BB (B & B R 8
B P I B R KC
BEREFE2ARE

o AR B A s
A BHE (R B 22 21 28 — )
Z Al Bl A B R A
TN NCIE E-3 & I
BZARE - AR BRI
WNECE - I EE IR g
L€

8RR R R T
BB F R 2 A R

investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

—  Level 3valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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11 eEWERELHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(b) BEYREILA A A 2 (F)

o~ S AE 2R (A1)

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

M

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A fo il
Fair value
2023 2022
W= Level 3 $°000 $'000
R ES R ARM  Recurring fair value measurement |
EE A Commercial — The United Kingdom 186,345 186,806

MR E R =R FE
EZHZ=Z+—HIEEE RE
— A B GS AR  F A ATE RS
R WNERE R SN R | N
A5 [ 1 BOR R R E A RS Y TR
HI TR A R EEREZ MW
W o

ALBEAREY XN F
T ERE R ZEFE D F =N
= R AG E o AfE
S7 2 B P i R BRBR A AG
At AR A EAT . % s F A
THATEBHEMEEERE R
FLAT B FILAS UC A W) 36 b B I
FEA 0 A ) RS B o BB O AR
BELHL 0 A R S S 0 0 OR
il B M R A 45 2R o

A B = 8N SR (E RN R E R

(i)

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 March 2023 and 2022. The valuations were carried out
by an independent firm of surveyors, Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited (“Ravia”), who have among their staff
Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of properties being
valued. The management have discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations were performed at the end of the reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

A ) L%
A 4 $5% 4§ LV € 3
Valuation Unobservable i
techniques inputs Range
% — % Commercial T 35 HE Al VEERE  15%t020%
— The United Kingdom Market comparison Premium on quality (2022: 5%
approach of the properties to 20%)

(VSR E AT N S < &7/ P
2 S AE )Y 2 %5 H B AT A B
LR & /N IR
{0 2k T R E o

The fair value of investment properties located in the United
Kingdom is determined on an open market value basis, by
making reference to the comparable sale transactions
evidence in the relevant locality.
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11 BeEWERELHE WG
Bk 6 (H)

(b) BEY LA A A2 (F)

(i)

A B = N S E R R B R
(%)

A T 55 H 3 o R
CETE NE S T
GBS RO LLBE « L T
LS 2 B R
o8 S

BEYEN R REAERES
iCEESEia </ ESLNLIE VA 7
1) FEIH TR ARK-

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement (continued)

The premium or discount used in market comparison
approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
sale transactions. Higher premium for higher quality buildings
will result in a higher fair value measurement.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised
in the line item “Valuation gains on investment properties” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(c) f1EHHE & E (¢) Right-of-use assets
i A0 B & E ORI B Ay 2 R R The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
R E AT - class of underlying asset is as follows:
B T 2023 2022
Note $’000 $°000
HEQ B 2 Lo e A Ownership interests in leasehold land and
HERE 45 4 97 25 B AR 51 R buildings held for own use, carried at
BTFAEMAT4EE R+ depreciated cost, with remaining lease term
FEZN between 10 and 50 years (i 6,124 6,406
Hih g A EWE k¥ Other properties leased for own use, carried at
T A B Hi depreciated cost (i) 42,295 37,000
gk 2 Bt f > feir A Plant and machinery, carried at depreciated
S cost (i) 2,389 1,964
M B skl - I # A Furniture and equipment, carried at
41| depreciated cost (i) - 169
50,808 45,539
HHEARZHEREWE  Ownership interests in leasehold investment
WA RMEIEE R FHE  properties, carried at fair value, with
LEDE remaining lease term of: (iv)
— LB L - 50 years or more 186,345 186,806
237,153 232,345
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11 EWERELHE - WG
Bk 6 (m)
(c) 1 JH & % (4)

18 a3 e EE 2 HH B M B 2 BH S TR
H s (3038 BA 30) 2 e At F

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items or (reduction of expenses) in
relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

2023 2022
$°000 $000
ffi FARE & AT 85 LU & 42 8 - Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset:

e g 2z - et Ownership interests in leasehold land and
Jir i REHE AR buildings 282 282
HoAh g M EY Other properties leased for own use 33,464 29,360
WP T B Plant and machinery 992 990
R B 5 M Furniture and equipment 169 295
34,907 30,857
& & EAME (5 6@)IE)  Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 2,366 2114
& 1 vl 4t Gain on lease modification (174) (1,910)
B 91 AH 5 A B A9 BH 3 Expense relating to short-term leases 111 707

AT B AT (S G AT Variable lease payments not included in the
AENF =) measurement of lease liabilities 9,826 8,515
W B COVID-19MH B FL 4 % sk~ COVID-19-related rent concessions received (544) (3,948)

BEZ - =H=A=+HIFE
fifi I HE & 15 029,233,000 G (&
T TU4FE 1 20,082,0007C) o 7% 4 A
B MR R M T P R E AT
AL E AT A B -

ML B9 B 4 0 Hh AR LB B
B F 2 B W 23 SR B R
16(d) X% 191H -

M

FifE A M 2 & st Jo 48 5 o A
HE 4

A AR B R AR R P TE
Mo Fp A — M8 T T DU
B R S 5 1 0 o A B 1 0 ) 3
HE i (6045 4 30 2 fr A fE 4 %1
FR R rh ) BT A -
o] 2 WS RO N A A B
FERE A RIHE KA B
A B BURF B 4% 2 Bl Al (E 55
ST ERIE S > S AT AR PR
L 5[] 5 245 4 S i 2
A T G S 22 B (E R
19 3K TH AT T B I ] Bl A o

During the year ended 31 March 2023, additions to right-of-use
assets were $29,233,000 (2022: $20,082,000). This amount
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable under
new and renewed tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in notes 16(d) and 19 respectively.

(i)  Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for
own use

The Group holds an industrial building in Hong Kong for its
printing business, where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered owner of the
property interests, including the whole or part of undivided
share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the property interests from their
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land lease,
other than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authority. These payments vary from
time to time and are payable to the relevant government
authority.
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11 BeEWERELHE WG
Bk 6 (H)

(c) 581 #E & i (47)

(i)

(i)

HoAtr B R E Y2

AR O AR e o S
R At Wy S AR L R K
W = BRER o LB — B
B F:l R SR

HWE X =N F

A=+ —HI-FE A4%EH
MEZMZENE &P
R4 2 8 0 O R AR 2 8 B X
TE IR AR AR B B AT B K
2 nJ s A0 AT KR K e W% AT
GO A S [ T A 1 A v
R R M R P s B A
WH-BE_F R F
oA T HIEFEERN
H 7 B B A AT AL S HE R A
i T S I O R O B |
COVID-19 {4 #% - 7 4 [ L §r 41
[ 7 AT 3 A T 0 A5 4 B o
BErE_FE ="K F

A=+ -HILFE EER%
Ff T SRR [ RN AT A L B AT K
SRR

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as
its retail stores and offices through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group
leased a number of retail stores which contain variable lease
payment terms that are based on sales generated from the
retail stores and minimum annual lease payment terms that
are fixed. These payment terms are common in retail stores
in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Macau where the Group
operates. During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
the Group received rent concessions in the form of a discount
on fixed payments during the period of severe social
distancing and travel restriction measures introduced to
contain the spread of COVID-19. The amounts of fixed and
variable lease payments recognised in profit or loss for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are summarised
below:

2023
COVID-19
1 BH AL 4 7 W
5wk S A K COVID-19- B8 A
Fixed Variable related rent Total
payments payments  concessions payments
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T L Retail stores | 36,979 9,245 (544) 45,680
2022
COVID-19
AH B AH 4 7 UK
e AT A& ) A K COVID-19- MR AT 3K
Fixed Variable related rent Total
payments payments concessions payments
$'000 $000 $'000 $000
F A T Retail stores | 44,500 7,934 (3,948) 48,486
HoAth A= (i)  Other leases

A R g R s e =
S A By — 2= AR R R
fa SO AN LS P A B A AR

L BUE Y 2619 P A HERE 2

A B BB T — T K
LB TR 2 A T SR A
B -

(iv)

The Group leases plant and machinery and office equipment
under leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. None of the leases
includes variable lease payments.

Ownership interests in leasehold investment properties

The Group holds a commercial property in the United
Kingdom to earn rental income and/or capital appreciation.
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11 eEWERELHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(c) 581 #E & 5 (47)

(v)

T BCE Y 300 B A RERE 22 ()

BEYH —

ACSE T 25 ) S i ) B RO
7 78 i A B ) B B R A A
LA 4 T 2 M) T A A i
5% HH B - b B BT BE o 1) 2 HI
FRCHEA N A A B N 4
Z HIAC KL SOAT o A B R Y
EHAE MM AB1264 - Hda
R MEANHERAZ A
5 FH BT O Ak T IR AR AR
AR A M R T E G- I AL
FAOFIE I — R L BT 5 4 o

BE-FE =K F
“HA=t—H1EFE HEM
900 R E B T B AT 3K & AR
HE %8 4

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(v)

Ownership interests in leasehold investment properties
(continued)

Investment properties — United Kingdom

The Group is the registered owner of these property interests
and obtained the right of use of the underlying land through
head lease signed between the freeholder of the underlying
land and the Group. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the property interests from the previous registered
owner. The head lease of the underlying land runs for an
initial period of 125 years and contain variable lease payment
terms that are based on rental income generated from
subleases and minimum annual lease payment term are
fixed and increased every 10 years to reflect market rentals.

During the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
amounts of fixed and variable lease payments under the
head lease are summarised below:

2023
B sk S E) Ak B4 WA
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
$°000 $’000 $’000
WEWHE Investment properties
— W — United Kingdom 741 581 1,322
2022
[ 2 AT Ek Al s ) A K HAFR AT K
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
$°000 $'000 $'000
g g7//E Investment properties
O — United Kingdom 802 581 1,383
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11 REDERLMBHE - BE
B ik 5 (H)

(d) KEEBEYHEZFHUT

(e)

Q)

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(d) Details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

2023

b Hui % MM Location Existing use Term of lease
Nos. 42-43 Great e = £ Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Offices and Long-term
Marlborough Street, &R Street, London W1V, restaurants lease
London W1V, The United Kingdom

The United Kingdom

2022

o HuiJi¥% AlM Location Existing use Term of lease
Nos. 42-43 Great /N = Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Offices and Long-term
Marlborough Street, &y Street, London W1V, restaurants lease
London W1V, The United Kingdom

The United Kingdom

&AL A 5 R Y i BB Y

A 4 [ DL LR L B E W 3
M — e A=+ HE(CF
TR HAMEER
9o T BRF BT A R 4 AT R A E o 4%
TR R AN G4 ] S 8l AL AR o

A S AR R ] MR BR 2 R R B A
o ) R AR U 2 e I AL K AR
R

(e) Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 25 years
(2022: 25 years), with an option to renew the leases at which time
all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable
lease payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the
Group in future periods as follows:

2023 2022

$°000 $°000

—4FE A Within 1 year 7,509 5,185
— 1 H W 4E A After 1 year but within 2 years 7,496 5,199
W AFEZME =N After 2 years but within 3 years 6,633 5,185
ZEZLMEYER After 3 years but within 4 years 7,496 5,185
PO 4 4% 5 H 4 A After 4 years but within 5 years 7,496 5,185
AR After 5 years 19,173 20,271
55,803 46,210

HERGEY#
HEZ - F=A=t+—HIFE
AEMEEEFEENHREY ENE
4% 97,865,000 7. > Bk &= T B
13,336,000 TC °

(f) Disposal of investment properties

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed of
investment properties in Hong Kong at a consideration of
$97,865,000, resulting in a net gain on disposal of $13,336,000.
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12 € % &

12 Intangible assets

2023 2022

$°000 $'000

[ Guy Laroche | P 42 Guy Laroche trademark | 102,050 102,050
[ Ashworth | 7 1% Ashworth trademark ! 31,392 31,392
! 133,442 133,442

[Guy Laroche ][ Ashworth ] p {Z # 15 1E
A4 R A A R o N6 AR R B RE A 1(h) TH 2 &
FT R AR -

BeRE 2y BoA M RN R Ay i pE A W
Ty AN AE 2 A R A B B2 A R
A H %5 46 E R Ak 2 4 E R B e R
A UK ORI JY BR A T TE B A R

S FRA w] 1 A AE T R R DA ) A
[Guy Laroche il Ashworth ] 7 2 43 7l
A TGuy Laroche ] fl[ Ashworth ] 1) 4= Bk
05 AT A o

Mo F R CE D CE A=
oy TE 7 AR A B 4 A AR B B T i ]
B ARBE BET E w5 o A0 Al (E A B
S BR TR AT A A A AT R 2 F R A LR A
R A &R R HET RS
EARMKEREE DFERR RS
Vi K AR R AR - C R RS E

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademark are considered to have indefinite
useful lives and are accounted for in accordance with accounting policy
note 1(h).

Trademarks are regarded to have indefinite useful lives as they either
have no expiration or are renewable on a periodic basis with the
appropriate authority and there is no foreseeable limit to the number
of renewals and the period over which these assets are expected to
generate cash flows for the Group.

Impairment tests for trademarks with an indefinite useful economic life

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademarks service Guy Laroche and
Ashworth worldwide operations respectively and are separately
identifiable.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units (“CGU”) to which the trademarks were allocated are
determined based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use
calculations of the CGUs were carried out by an external valuer, Ravia
based on cash flow projections prepared by management covering a
five-year period. Cash flows beyond five-year period are extrapolated
using terminal growth rates. The following key assumptions have been

R E ML A used for the value-in-use calculations:

2023

[ Guy Laroche [Ashworth ]

PR ¥ B

Guy Laroche Ashworth

trademark trademark

A B & Discount rate | 20.2% 17.8%

KA B R R Terminal growth rate | 3%, 29,
2022

[ Guy Laroche | [ Ashworth |

(k3 T

Guy Laroche Ashworth

trademark trademark

Al B R Discount rate | 17.8% 18.1%

KA MR R Terminal growth rate | 3% 2%

PR RS > LAE R Jr B E AT e
M E RS MA LTS AT R
AN g BB R (R R %
CEFERCEF D CFE =A== B
e [m] 4 B

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions on which the recoverable amount measurement is based
would not cause the carrying amount of the trademarks to exceed their
recoverable amounts at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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13 EREMNBZER

13 Trading securities

2023 2022
$000 $'000
AR A DL R A T EE Financial assets measured at FVPL ‘
Sl &
—HEWLIANIE E T JERRER S — Unlisted non-equity securities outside ‘
Hong Kong | 10,610 17,119
14 ## & 14 Inventories
(a) HAEMBRILFERNZGFEE B : (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise:
2023 2022
$000 $'000
J 4 Raw materials | 3,773 3,941
=R Work in progress | 901 845
AR Finished goods ! 28,858 34,131
! 33,532 38,917
(b) i 2 B 3l B At A H 25 i B (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
HANIME - and included in profit or loss is as follows:
2023 2022
$000 $000
CEFAE ZIRHEE Carrying amount of inventories sold | 83,109 79,528
17 5 A Write-down of inventories | 77 4,491
17 55 AU A 1) Reversal of write-down of inventories ! (15,191) (11,010)
! 67,995 73,009
% 0] 08 1E AR BEAE I 2 A BT B The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose
AR & B 2 B A T 5| 30 AR 1Y T due to an increase in the estimated realisable value of certain
w5 BUAE (E G - garments as a result of a change in consumer preferences.
15 JE e MR A% K B fb RE W Ak 15 Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
JRE i AR 3K Trade debtors 21,662 23,507
B R Less: loss allowance (2,054) (6,395)
19,608 17,112
Fi2 4~ TEAST B B A 1 i 3k Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 15,994 23,381
& BRI A (B 555 201H) Employee retirement benefits (note 20) 1,421 1,308
37,023 41,801

I HoAth JE Wi 3k A5 1,180,0007T (&
896,0007T) 4 » 4% 4 B Jir A5 1 i JIR 3K &
T Ath 1 e 2K TE A Al — A i ] sR R R
BB -

All of the Group’s trade and other receivables, apart from other
receivables of $1,180,000 (2022: $896,000), are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
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ME W M 3k B 30 fb BE U sk (s0) 15 Trade and other receivables (continued)

R AR IR B R R (B s 4R 5
AR R R N 2 IRE AT E

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors
(net of loss allowance) based on invoice date is as follows:

2023 2022

$000 $000

— i AR Within 1 month 16,554 12,180
—{@ AL EE=@A LA Over 1 month but within 2 months 720 3,263
ZMRAMUEHE=MAMR Over 2 months but within 3 months 888 1,013
=M A EEA+AZMEA N Over 3 months but within 12 months 1,446 656
19,608 17,112

JRE AT i 2K TE 5 B H /£ 19 30 £ 90 H A E|
1 A 4R (5 B UK 2 — 25 5 R
R 5% 565 24(a) JE o

Trade debtors are due within 30 days to 90 days from the date of billing.
Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 24(a).

HEeERBAE%5MEY K XM 16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

S E R information
(a) BleRBE&FEHEY AT : (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2023 2022
$000 $'000
AT ZAE K Deposits with banks 69,772 68,524
SRATAF K S B4 Cash at bank and on hand 48,348 64,264
AR AR FE TR 2 Cash and cash equivalents in the
B4 K Bl &5 consolidated statement of
financial position 118,120 132,788
PRAT 2 3 (MY 5155 189H) Bank overdrafts (note 18) @) (7,049)
BAEB &R ERRZ Cash and cash equivalents in the
e kB E&%EY consolidated cash flow statement 118,116 125,739

FPAB & KRB &S EYNEGe
#H #)10,366,000 JC ( = & . T4
13,244,000 7G) > 2% A< 4 [ jih B A
R AT A7 R N R R - e |
A M5 B A BE 8 A o ZH 3 ST P IR
B R Jiti in B A B 45 T o

Included in the balance of cash and cash equivalents is an amount
of $10,366,000 (2022: $13,244,000) representing Renminbi Yuan
deposits placed with banks in Mainland China by the Group. The
remittance of these funds out of Mainland China is subject to the
exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.
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16 Bl & K& Bl & % ¥ K& 3t fb Bl

16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

&0 ' B (8) information (continued)
(b) % BB BT (B 18) it F o] 6 4 4 (b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash generated
HHmELE(TH)ZBE - Jfrom/(used in) operations:
B 5 2023 2022
Note $°000 $°000
i B AT (B 48) i 4 (Loss)/profit before taxation (14,771) 1973
I - Adjustments for:
Y ARG 2 & W& E  Interest income on financial assets
Z R E e A measured at amortised cost 5 (1,230) (287)
HEREY ¥ Gain on disposal of investment
properties - (13,336)
o H ALY R Loss on disposal of other property,
A 2 R plant and equipment 5 538 11
HEFEEE g2 FH Gain on disposal of trading securities
e 4t 5 (110) -
EE S &2 #5028  Change in fair value of trading securities
{8 2 ok 5 5 18 (34)
R A Provision of claims 22(a) - (5,478)
il A Finance costs 6(a) 2,366 2379
e Depreciation 8(c) 38,381 33,751
W 25 A (E i A Valuation gains on investment
properties 11(a) (9,259) (6,405)
HoAl Py % ~ MBI s il 2 Impairment loss on other property,
I (H & 18 plant and equipment B(c) 1,221 _
i HE R 2 UAE I 1R Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  (c) 3,251 _
LR TIE Gain on lease modification 6(c) (174) (1,910)
SEME A Al (i) Loss/(gain) on deregistration of
subsidiaries 334 (3,928)
Wi | COVID-19 A1 B #H 4x COVID-19-related rent concessions
L received (544) (3,948)
T 56 5 38 (Wi 45) Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 6,216 (647)
i L fé”\ 55 ) - Changes in working capital:
Wy (8 m) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 5,385 (3,474)
*ﬁ_ % 1’“” & () w8 (Increase)/decrease in rental deposits (2,931) 3,535
JRRE WA B 8 Increase in trade debtors (3,020) (1,959)
e 4~ TE AT B R H At Decrease in deposits, prepayments and
WS D other receivables 6,613 253
JRE AT B K 45 Increase in trade creditors 3,578 3,649
A JE A5 K R B 5T 2 Increase/(decrease) in other payables
# o GEb) and accrued charges 2,484 (1,906)
& A B &R () Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 548 (1,908)
8 A Wk > Decrease in provisions - (4,092)
JRE AT B 2 2 W] 3K H Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
o, () related companies 44 67)
g EL () 24 Cash generated from/(used in) operations 38,938 (3,828)
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16 R4 RBL5MY EEMB 16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

0N EE B (s information (continued)
(c) Hi il & iE B e 2k 2 il i % (¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
A S [ IR R TR B I A AR 2 B The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
B U S REBR LT C financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
FESIA T 3R o po RS B AR R Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
B 2 5% 18 75 i & M 2R 1 B & 0> cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
WAELEENGE B SERERD > & Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
M AMESE 2 AR - financing activities.
2023 2022
MG A ALE A MESHRE MEAE
Interest Lease ME  Interest Lease R
accruals liabilities Total accruals liabilities Total
(k) (Ff &)
(Note) (Note)
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $000 $'000
B0 At the beginning of the year - 55982 55982 - 73,756 73756
WERLSWES Changes from financing
cash flows:
FE Interest paid - - - (265) - (265)
CYMHEHEZEAR  Capital element of lease
i rentals paid - (34,810) (34,810) - (43,194)  (43,194)
EXMHEMEZFE  Interest element of lease
ikt rentals paid - (2366)  (2,366) - @114 (2114

il B 4 4 ) MU

Total changes from financing

cash flows - (37,176) (37,176 (265)  (45,308)  (45,573)
T 5, 7 % Exchange adjustment - (2,429)  (2,429) - _ -
Hfb g Other changes:
FLE ST (B RE456(a) ) Interest expenses (note 6(a)) - 2366 2,366 265 2114 2379
BENHTHEZ Increase in lease liabilities
& & 5 from entering into new
leases during the year - 29233 29,233 - 20082 20,082
M -HEB Adjustment - lease
modifications - 16,966 16,966 - 11,196 11,19
P A L AL Early termination of lease - (1,34)  (1,341) - (1910 (1,910
COVID-19 41 B 7l 4 % ik COVID-19-related rent
(Bft 5 55 11(c) JH) concessions received
(note 11(c)) - (544) (544) - (3,948  (3,948)
- 46,680 46,680 265 27,534 27,799
LEF S At the end of the year - 63,057 63,057 - 55982 55982
B ek SRATIE AR P B A RS Note: Interest accruals represented interests on bank overdrafts which were
B 605 75 %5 5 W Ik DL 00 TRE £ AR included in “Trade and other payables and contract liabilities” on the
K A AT R e A R BRI . face of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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16 H4E KRB LE5EYW KX HEMB 16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

40 a ' kR (8) information (continued)
(d) Fil BB 2w H A (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HEBSRBERPEED THEZ Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for
ok leases comprise the following:
2023 2022
$000 $'000
B 7 A8 B T Within operating cash flows 9,937 9,243
55 7E B BB Within financing cash flows 37,176 45,308
47,113 54,551

17 ME 4} Mg 3% % M fb HE {4 3% & & 17 Trade and other payables and contract liabilities
il £1 45

2023 2022
$°000 $000

A MR 3% B JE Al ME 44 5k Trade and other payables
JRE A% B 3K Trade creditors 13,892 10,561
Ay 1 A K e E AT # ] Other payables and accrued charges 26,460 25,745
JE A5F T8 7\ 7] 3K TE Amounts due to related companies 161 117
40,513 36,423

A Contract liabilities

i B R Receipts in advance 1,997 481
42,510 36,904
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17 W& A R =% B 3 M ME 1 2%k & &
W 6 ()

(a) B 3k Je S At JE £F 5

(b)

JEE A5F R K % G b B AF 3K JELR 19 B A
EWBIR — F R HHE -

JOE AT IR 2R 2% WD RO A AR - e B
Jo 4 A B R -

WA WS R B AR S & e
RN H IR TN

17 Trade and other payables and contract liabilities

(continued)

(a) Trade and other payables

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year.

The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors based on invoice date is as follows:

2023 2022
$000 $000
— i AN Within 1 month 8,965 7,778
—{E H L EH =1 H LR Over 1 month but within 3 months 4,497 2,569
“MAA LA EESMEA A Over 3 months but within 6 months 168 166
A it 7S A Over 6 months 262 48
13,892 10,561
& ld A 1 (b) Contract liabilities
HEMERAMAMSFEEREED Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract
— S AT IR liabilities recognised are as follows:
A 2 )l R B R ORR At 2 2 Bl The Group receives advances from certain customers in
] 5 F % 5 B GEK o A B B R T connection with the licensing arrangements and the provision of
REARARK BHETHRBITEMT security printing. These advances are recognised as contract
By ik e liabilities until the performance obligations are completed.
EREENEH Movements in contract liabilities
2023 2022
$000 $'000
) At the beginning of the year 481 2 531
FERNERFEVFAGH Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
Bl 1Y I A5 1 2B A TR recognising revenue during the year that
B was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (481) (2,389)
A A R 4 4 BE BB L Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
2 4 B R 1) 2 5 Al B K receiving advances from customers
T 2 304 (R B 3 during the year in respect of the licensing
arrangements and provision of security
printing 2,008 481
[itE 53, 58 & Exchange adjustments (11) (142)
AR At the end of the year 1,997 481

P A B W JE B RO AR — A A D

All receipts in advance are expected to be recognised as income

R e

within one year.
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18

AT & X
WE - F SR S
St BB WATELWE

18 Bank overdrafts
At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the bank overdrafts were as follows:

2023 2022
$000 $000
— A A I A A A R Repayable within one year or on demand:
SHE 4K 30 19 SR 4T 95 (M 3145 16(2)JH)  Unsecured bank overdrafts (note 16(a)) 4 7,049

/I SR SN G Suat: = S =ty pl E I
AL ] BT A SR AT AR B R A B A O Y
B 3240 B9 A o

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s banking facilities were not
subject to the fulfilment of any financial covenants.

19 Al 1% £ 6% 20 Lease liabilities
BE _FE _=_F N _F - IF=H At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable as
—t—HIEHE HEABEEZEWT follows:
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
—HEPIR Within 1 year 25,924 26,657
—HEBEHFER After 1 year but within 2 years 15,354 11,912
THEBHEHBEFERN After 2 years but within 5 years 6,251 6,761
HAFER After 5 years 15,528 10,652
37,133 29,325
63,057 55,982
20 1@ H OBk ow A 20 Employee retirement benefits

7 A5 ] T 4 B8 s G e S B 4 Rk
B) 2 B - oy AR s IR R A6 ) 1 )
Z M8 B % T s e R A sl E (7 5 RE 4
FHE D) o M A EHE Y E R E A HOR K
FHE s T Z AN B o R R AR
arwt il R TR e B S HR R B A BIK
A Z 5% % sk B B AL & A A Bk
A2 FBR A 30,0007C o [A] 3% &t # 1F H 2 it
Ty B I B R o

TE o B A T R S 2 B 4 W 2o
B O 2 B A e R B AR 2 B E R
BB o % 5F BEFOR SON R A AR R TBR o
I6] 5% wt & A 22 ATy BY R B & o

— I AE & 8L 2 W 2w AR B (5
5l I e k) 2 B — TH 5 E AR AR AR R ) -
% wt HAAE EN RERE OR R B
MR AEEEGHAFEm 2 (FEg
at e Q) S 19 5% [ A 47 7 # 5% -

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries established in Mainland China participate in the defined
contribution retirement schemes operated by the PRC government for
employees in Mainland China. Contributions to these schemes are
charged to profit or loss when incurred. Contributions to the schemes
vest immediately.

A subsidiary established in Taiwan participates in a defined benefit
retirement plan established in accordance with the local Labour
Standards Law. The scheme is not material to the Group and, therefore,
the disclosures required by HKAS 19, Employee benefits, have not
been presented.
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20 @ B B k& A s

21

FoAb A5 A - b B A K% & LS F] ik
HHE [ 858 A0 3 RS 2 B e 2 WD AR B A
FIEME I 2 R > 2 B 2y R B
AR 2 O I OR IR T B o 8% 4w
R SRR A 48 4R 1 BR o 1 8% w1 # AR
Z 33 T B IR B o

B A W B OR Bk 2 P 15 B

(a) A% 1 B Bk U0 26 T 7 2 2K 9 By 7 i

20 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

Subsidiaries established in other jurisdictions other than Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Taiwan participate in the defined contribution
retirement schemes operated by the local government for employees
in accordance with the ruling in the relevant jurisdictions. Contributions
to these schemes are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position

7 represents:
2023 2022
$°000 $000
B s 15 B e A Balance relating to Hong Kong Profits Tax (313) (213)
B W5 DA A b 15 Bl I E Balance relating to tax outside Hong Kong - 215
(313) 2
S F Analysed as follows:
7 {1 \] 5B [\ B I Current tax recoverable (318) (317)
7R ) A5 i TH Current tax payable 5 319
(313) 2

(b) CWEGRBEERIEEEHAH:

) R &R A B IR UL R e R
WERLEA R (EE) iM‘&ZIK

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i)  The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the

EEEBT movements during the year are as follows:
HRyi#EZ
NERBBZ
% R
Temporary
difference
between
depreciation BEE#HZ
and H % A 2
the related Future
depreciation 6% i benefit of Hm
BHEBEEA : Deferred tax arising from: allowances Provisions tax losses Total
$000 $000 $000 $000
RE-FZ—HNHA—H At 1 April 2021 1,316 48) (148) 1,120
i 3¢, 3 Exchange adjustments - &) 1 )
FEHRBEEC GEA) /il (Credited)/charged to
(Pt & 55 7(a) 1) profit or loss (note 7(a)) (511) 122 6) (396)
WZFZZHE=H=1—H At31March2022 and
RZF WA —H 1 April 2022 805 71 (153) 703
fE 54, 3] Exchange adjustments - @) _ (@)
TEH#EET (GHEA) /B (Credited)/charged to
(Fff 3% 565 7(0) 1) profit or loss (note 7(a)) 101) 49 153 94
RoFZHEZA=Z+—H  At31 March 2023 704 109 - 813
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21 5 WM B RN FZ2M BB (8) 21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position (continued)

(b) D 8 0 4t il JH & / A1 (4) (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued)
(i) WHE A A5G MR % (i)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position
2023 2022
$000 $000

45 B EﬂL ?‘% R FE K Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
Tl 58 2 % 4k Al JH & 7 consolidated statement of financial position
HH (121) (281)
TS M RBFE AN Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
MR IRIEBIIE A consolidated statement of financial position

F(H 934 1,004
813 723
(c) R HERRZ W8 AL Fit JH & (¢) Deferred tax assets not recognised
I EINEZ et BR > A4E In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r), the
] 1 22 B 5 I #8501, 777,0007T (— Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
x4 1 504,536,000 70) M H At cumulative tax losses of $501,777,000 (2022: $504,536,000) and
95,503,000 I FEpE 2 B (= F — other temporary differences of $95,503,000 (2022: $95,826,000)
4 1 95,826,000 7T ) T 3R 5 UE It B OIE as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
EE o RS 42 B R K AN K A fig AE A assets can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
BRBL B R A v R ph B % K jurisdictions. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
A R SR A T o A £E ) OK il B I in respect of tax losses, whose expiry dates are:
s 15 0 S B U A > W H
W
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
nH_F - _H#+_-H In December 2022 - 4,261
E_E =4+ _"H In December 2023 10,115 16,165
fEFE WE+T A In December 2024 15,906 17,033
H_EFE _hH%E+_H In December 2025 11,225 11,907
EZEZRE+TA In December 2026 15,084 1,823
o E _EHE+_H In December 2027 170 183
= Z N4+ H In December 2028 896 965
o F jLE + A In December 2029 5,762 6,205
FoEZ=FFE+H In December 2030 2,354 2535
FE_E2=—4+_"H4 In December 2031 2,198 2,198
X =_"%+_"H In December 2032 3,799 -
EBRTBEER T AEEH Do not expire under current tax legislation 434,268 441,261
501,777 504,536
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21 &% W B R Bk 2 B A4 B (80

22

(d)

AR i 58 Z A FE Bl I A
M oFE =R FE D FEZNA
=4 B AL R A 2 b
J& o~ F AR S B AR

21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position (continued)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the subsidiaries of the
Group based in Mainland China have no undistributed profits.

% # 22 Provisions
R
(B 5k 22(a) H)
Provision for
claims
(Note 22(a))
$°000

R FEZFWHA—H Balance at 1 April 2021 9,570
8 Utilised during the year (4,002)
135 A ] 3¢ Provision written back (5,478)
W_EFE__HF=A=+—H" Balance at 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023

CECTFEEA—H K

TETZ A =1T—H -

W 5E

(@

Mo E - 4EZH =+ —HIL4ERE
H & Aquascutum Holdings Limited 7
Wr = TEH D% MM EEE
B LS Wk (T S5 Wk ) R © i o
TE O R — B A A (TR ) -
FoR A ST HIEERE
GO e o O
3 Bl SR B2 10 B A A (FRL 6
Toh e B 5 R 0) 4R B FR RS > B R
AT RAT AR A 2 Hofh # o HE K
82K K W 1B 28 £ 9,857,060
M ot (FH 55 it 9,570,000 78) ©

W oEFE T TAEZHA = —HIE4EE
%i;@$%l§%ﬁ&ﬁ%"ﬂﬁj%m
fit fn k> W) 3 LA 4 %6 4,000,000 1R
ML ( PFH%?JEGS,QOS,OOOE figg Yo 5k
FI R BT R A kR R A E
A B A S i PR 3R A )
85,478,000 JC °

Note:

(@

Upon the disposal of Aquascutum Holdings Limited to an
independent third party (the “Purchaser”) during the year ended
31 March 2018, the tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”)
of retail stores in Macau was also assigned to a subsidiary of the
Purchaser (“Defendant”). During the year ended 31 March 2021,
the landlord of retail stores in Macau filed a declaratory judgement
action in the form of an ordinary lawsuit against the Defendant
and a subsidiary of the Group which was the guarantor of the
Tenancy Agreement demanding for unpaid rent and other fees
and compensation for damages and losses amounting to a total
of MOP9,857,060 (equivalent to $9,570,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Landlord and a
subsidiary of the Group entered into a settlement agreement and
agreed to settle the dispute with a total sum of MOP4,000,000
(equivalent to $3,908,000). A reversal of provision for claims of
$5,478,000 was made, after deducting the legal expenses
incurred, in the consolidated financial statements accordingly.
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23 Be A - G i B e B
(a) At 25 ¥ 4 5 )

23 Capital, reserves and dividends

(a) Movements in components of equity

AL 2 A AR R A A 1 AR A The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
BRI b5 AR S SR B A o each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
AN\ 225 AR RE 25 5 4 19 4R ) K AR the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
KEHFHFH W T changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
AR A H Company
BeA R
Share  Retained R
iy ek capital profits Total
Note $000 $000 $°000
B —ENA—H Balance at 1 April 2021 383,909 63,615 447 524
REAR SR W) Changes in equity:
AR B g8 M 2 T U 4 Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year - 50,852 50,852
AR E A K E AT Dividend approved and paid in respect of
e & the previous year 23(0)(ii - (16,586) (16,586)
AAEFEEEIRLEAFH  Interim dividend declared and paid in
i & respect of current year 23(b)(i) - (16,586) (16,586)
W_F "4 =H=+—H Balance at 31 March 2022 and
RZFZZAHEWH R 1 April 2022 383,909 81,205 465,204
Bz ) Changes in equity:
A8 A B 1 M 4 T AR Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - (16,184) (16,184)
WEEECHERE M Dividend approved and paid in respect of
e & the previous year 23(0)(ii) - (8,299) (8,293)
BR_F_=4=H=+—H Balanceat 31 March 2023 383,909 56,818 440,727
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23 e A - G B B B s 23 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
(b) B (b) Dividends
() A5 B EAG 2 B A AR 28 7 ME 25 ()  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
il e @5 attributable to the year
2023 2022
$°000 $°000
L IR S AR o S A 2 o Ak Interim dividend declared and paid of nil
FREM (T ZF G104 (2022: 10 cents) per ordinary share - 16,586
AR K H & #E IR R Final dividend proposed after the end of the
Ex B 0 B 4 104l reporting period of 10 cents (2022: 5 cents)
SR RS per ordinary share 16,586 8,293
16,586 24,879
WA R BB ERESIRZ The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
A S R A AR R H period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of
MERR 2y B 6K - the reporting period.
(i) bR B LA R AT AR 4 AR (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
2 JB SR A S (2L A 4R A 2 it attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid
HE & T A during the year
2023 2022
$°000 $'000

R B U B 2 R S A A Final dividend in respect of the previous
E& Besfll (B 4E R e R E4F)  financial year, approved and paid

SR 01D during the year, of 5 cents
(2022: 10 cents) per ordinary share 8,293 16,586
(c) CETK /N (c) Issued share capital
2023 2022
It % Ji& B
No. of No. of
shares shares
('000) $'000 (000) $'000
O BT B SR e AR Ordinary shares, issued and
W fully paid:
) R AR At the beginning and
the end of the year 165,864 383,909 165,864 383,909
R 45 s (A 7 e 1) 55 185 » A In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
) 2 A NI A T (E Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a
par value.
W om A N A REYR BOAS B E R 2 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
E > HERfE — A —SaELX as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
w 7 gk b BERE A E R share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
WA N ARG EEEG SRR - with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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23 e A ~ Gl OB B B (s
(d) 2B R %

(e)

)]

()  4MIE i 45

S T fi 45 £ 45 3 55 if A 36 5 Bt
5 4 2R BT AR 2 BT A T B 22 o
i foft 445 AR 9 B R 55 1 () JH BT 2
B I

(i) A

EAGHEMIRE R B EN
I REAE A R A0 )
(Y T A AR o G A AR B BT RE SR
1(Q) JE BT & wH O R B o

]t g IR i

MR T = =H =+ —H B
FEHEARGHEIMF A AN A A
BEO IR T A 2N | B HE R ON W 6 A
48 %A 156,818,000 70 ( . & — TU4E
81,295,0007C) Ak BIR H 1% »
O R UK B K M B A I
10 ( =& = 451l » &% 5
16,586,0007C (& — " 4F : 8,293,000
J6) (Fft 5% 56 23(b)() HH) -

B A B

ALEE R EAR 2 TR R
A S5 1 R ) R AR P AR R R R
e i 75 At SR B K 7 AR S E 2
Lo s e DA R 4 5 B A EAT R
A 1y TR RO A (o] i By At A 4
I BR # Al 2 A i o

A S8 R bR K E W A AT KO B
A% B > LLE A B8 B SR [ R
AT AE IR R A KT B R
AR P A A 2 B i e AR B 2 TH] A
- 7 o Sl R AR BR 0 AL B
AL AE )

MRAEAT SEA 0] > A 52 181 3% o005 1o 3
RET G AR B EALHRE - 3
BRI 5 > A 52 i 0 5 4 B 00 2 7 4
R (B 48 w2 80 3 8 A 6 DL % I A+
ARk e & ) A e AL AR I 2
FHEEUR IR W R Bl Y -
KA R A A P A RE 2R O 00 BBl JF
AFHEEIR R -

23 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(e)

(i)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in note 1(u).

(i)  Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the surplus on
revaluation of land and buildings held for own use upon
change of use to investment properties. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 1(g).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was $56,818,000 (2022: $81,295,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of 10 cent (2022: 5 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to $16,586,000 (2022: $8,293,000) (note 23(0)(i)).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between a higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total debt (which
includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other
payables and contract liabilities and lease liabilities) plus unaccrued
proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

4 # 2022/23 Annual Report
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(f) Capital management (continued)

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the
current and previous reporting periods was as follows:

B 5 2023 2022
Note $’000 $'000
i A Current liabilities:
AT IE X Bank overdrafts 18 4 7,049
THE &K Lease liabilities 19 25,924 26,657
25,928 33,706
I B & ik Non-current liability:
HEAE Lease liabilities 19 37,133 29,325
fif 75 48 Total debt 63,061 63,031
B R K E Add: Proposed dividends 23(b)(i) 16,586 8,293
W e KRS ED Less: Cash and cash equivalents 16(a) (118,120) (132,788)
Bl 4% H Adjusted net debt (38,473) (61,464)
1 4 M8 Total equity 477,617 507,670
W BEUR S Less: Proposed dividends 23(0)(i) (16,586) (8,293)
£ 0 A Adjusted capital 461,031 499,377
EHTFRY RN E AR Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio (8)% (12)%

Ay w) S FAT Ay B JBS 2 W) 2 AR &% S

Al i 2 A R E BR A

externally imposed capital requirements.
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24 SR BEEMAESBR T HA
i

A SR g AR I R EH R R b B B
P/ < AR e P N W S S )
B R A AF T & 2 W 2R TR
I B R M JRL e

A B W L AT B R B o 3B DL B RS
PR e O A B A B Ja B

(a) 15 B bR
FEREEL G T ENREAHE
AT 45 B A 4 1) 6 s 8 00 JRL B -

$%H%F§ﬂ%£%%ﬁ§%&
At M Bk TE S FHE R A KR
&2z @5 2'—‘%[%.@%&&%&
S8 AR E R R AR
BEF T AERFRRITNEIT
A 4 [ B B RR B A PR JEL B A

B HE TR S BOR > I R A B
PEE 25 A JEL B o A5 R EUBR A9 I K
JE B8 FR %5 A B R L 2% b A TH 4 Rl
G RE Y R T (H R OR o

L #% & M A 0H £ " AR %
B Fepd 3 3 0 R R K
WOl M EE ORI A A AEE W R
(19 15 45 o By 3= 2 g R E AR S K&
R 45 36 T2 19 AR B IR Bl o A 4R B B R
ZEREMIE RS EE A E I &
= JE AR P A B LB

HEE S I H A I i SR IE T o M A
FEMMGEHTATFERRS — 48
R EENE P EATN - B e
R % 5 3 R R 2 AT 2O S A
HORI M AT RE S W KT R E

B B DL K& B 5 4848 i iR 1 48 %

BEABMNGE B9 EH ANEE
4 H ORI EI W) - B AR
BN € 18 % 5 R A AT A -

AHE B PR Z 2 A5 B TS % %
RECERE ¢ 2 Kl EaalPae ¥
A7 38 e Ho B K 1Y 22 A e B R 1 % B

i B By o AR B o (R AR
FIPSR - [ g el N )
A B A AR RS B EBR o TR
TR DEE R DR =R
= B AR B F Y R
7SR T B R KR A

24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to trading securities price risk arising from the trading securities held
by the Group.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, rental deposits and trading securities. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with sound credit
rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Rental deposits primarily comprise of amounts receivable from
the landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls with no recent
history of material defaults. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual characteristic of each landlord
of retail outlets and shopping malls. The Group has worked with
a large number of landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls
and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade debtors are due within 90 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customer operates and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk only arise if the Group has significant
exposure to individual customer. At 31 March 2023 and 2022,
no individual debtor with outstanding balance exceeded 10% of
the Group’s trade debtors.
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financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

24 Financial risk management and fair values of

The Group measures loss allowance for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

2023
B8 TR i 4 7
Gross R
N S carrying Loss
Expected amount allowance
loss rate $°000 $°000
A (R 38 1) Current (not past due) 0.0% 16,554 -
A — 18 A Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 720 -
e Al — | A Overdue over 1 month but
=M K within 3 months 0.0% 1,008 -
B =R A Overdue over 3 months but
B ZMA R within 12 months 8.4% 1,447 (121)
sl Overdue over 12 months 100% 1,933 (1,933)
21,662 (2,054)
2022
8 HR T 4 A
Gross 8 % 15
jEEi FEES carrying Loss
Expected amount allowance
loss rate $000 $'000
A3 COR 2t 18) Current (not past due) 0.0% 12.180 _
A — 1 A Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 3,263 -
e At — | Overdue over 1 month but
H=MA " within 3 months 0.0% 1013 -
B =R A Overdue over 3 months but
HAZMA R within 12 months 0.0% 656 -
sl Overdue over 12 months 100% 6,395 (6,395)
23,507 (6,395)

4F # 2022/23 Annual Report

102



103

& G W iR B st

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 5345 P #5 5~ 25 LItk o0 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

24 S EBEEAESH T HA
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(a) 1% 550 57 (45)

(b)
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W -

24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
debtors during the year is as follows:

2023 2022

$000 $000
AR At the beginning of the year 6,395 12,540
[ o8, 7 B Exchange adjustments (351) (189)
O il B R (E R 1 Impairment loss recognised 330 2,727
R Rt Amounts written off (3,511) -
T (L JEs 48, [ 438 Reversal of impairment loss (809) (8,683)
AR KR At the end of the year 2,054 6,395
i B & 4 (b) Liquidity risk

AR A B R AT R R
HegH ufReatFEEy
BERFEEERUEMNENZ B &
SR CHEe i 65 8 R A T O 7 O 2 IR
IKF- B H G A A F E R G H ) o
AEBMIERAENEERD TS
R BB SF R B (A ) o DL
PR AE 5 90 B A Ok B
W5 N 2 TR R R G B HE > D
EMHRENZ R EEFK -

R A G R A o R F IR A
B B AR R A IRAE A
A BB TS 4 & # R R BL B & 0 & (f
5 1 & #9225k 5 2 R AT A
fisg 75 17 B > B 4 &5 5 O R 2 Rl 5
AP DL SR AT RE JE A AR 2 d R
H & -

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short term investment
of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to the approval by the Company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants (if any), to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.
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24 & @R BE S B KX 4@ T H /A 24 Financial risk management and fair values of

o fE () financial instruments (continued)
(b) % By & & BE () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
2023
£ &9 AR W BLIG BL 43

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

—4ERE WM E

AR R AR
(K3 A =H
—4E N More than More than =4r—
o 3% 1 year 2 years W i A
Within  butless  butless FAEPY, | Carrying
1 year or than than More than #7% amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
BRAT L Bank overdrafts 4 - - - 4 4
JRE AT iR 3K Trade creditors 13,892 - - - 13,892 13,892
H At E A+ # Other payables and
M EH#E . accrued charges 26,460 - - - 26,460 26,460
JRE AT [ 2 Amounts due to
NEIE e related companies 161 - - - 161 161
L £ 1 Lease liabilities 28,774 18,427 8,917 72,890 129,008 63,057
69,291 18,427 8,917 72,890 169,525 103,574
2022
G AR G B R B I
Contractual undiscounted cash outflows
—4ERLE WAER Lk
(ES BAR
T 4F AR =HA
— 4N More than More than =+—H
BY % 38 A 1 year 2 years W% T (B
Within but less butless 4Lk I Carrying
1 year or than than  More than #EH  amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $°000 $°000
AT Bank overdrafts 7,049 - _ - 7,049 7,049
JRE AT B 33k Trade creditors 10,561 - - - 10,561 10,561
H Al #EfT 3k Other payables and
T =2 accrued charges 25,745 - - - 25,745 25,745
JRE AT [ 7 Amounts due to
NG| related companies 117 - - - 117 117
& A 1 Lease liabilities 27,619 12,408 7,608 74,002 122,537 55,982
71,091 12,408 7,608 74,902 166,009 99,454
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24 S EBEEAESH T HA
oo AE (80

(c) FI R i
AR AR B 2 )R AR E RATIE S -
e w] A A AR A 2 S B A 4R F R
5 & RN R JE B o A B I B
NI E Y R N

(c) Interest rate risk

financial instruments (continued)

24 Financial risk management and fair values of

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank overdrafts.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its fixed
rate and variable rate borrowings and manages the contractual

WEMFEMBEEELAEZAH terms of the interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities. The
YRR o B I e 2 AR AR R AR Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by management is set
DL F R out below:
() FIZ= AN () Interest rate profile
TR T A G AR AR The following table details the interest rate profile of the
IR H 2 R R AL o Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
2023 2022
L E R BRI E %
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% $°000 % $'000
[l & A %A% 1% Fixed rate borrowings:
s A H Lease liabilities 3.49 63,057 3.45 55,982
LR ¥ EX §t Variable rate borrowings:
SRATIE S Bank overdrafts 4.60 4 3.63 7,049
& 457 48 %5 Total borrowings 63,061 63,031
E I %Al B0 4% Fixed rate borrowings as a
RS SN percentage of total
borrowings 100% 89%
(iy R o AT Sensitivity analysis

W oE =A==+ —H,
18 % P AT A 5 AR R OR 4
FlREEH b B 1001 5 B
il 51 & 4 SA S 2 R B AE
HEAREGEM(ZF 4 -
Tt/ F B A 4 R B AR R B
4 B8 %5 ) 952,000 7T) © 454 HE
ﬁzﬁm%mﬁrﬁlﬂzﬁ
NS N AT

It AR B Ay BT S A A ] 2
Wk B 1% das A B8RS 1H (I % B8 U A))
IR | % 4 8l T = A 2 AR JE Ak A
B3 sl AW B R AL e
TR TR A M R ] — 3 e
AT o

At 31 March 20283, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have insignificant impact to
Group’s loss after tax and retained profits (2022: increased/
decreased the Group’s profit after tax retained profits by
approximately $52,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not be affected in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the
Group’s profit or loss after tax (and retained profits) that
would arise assuming that there is an annualised impact on
interest expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.
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(d) SR B (d)

24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

Currency risk

ALY Bz AR EEARA
B G A 2 A (B a% 52 5 31 JF
LAAR B 36 05 2 D e B WA AT) 2 B
Z EWCHR K~ MBS R Aok B B 4 A
C1E: QLY Nl S e S ST
g~ WOt AR R H A -

B8/ s o0 B 3 T #h 8 > A B T
JE 0 S HE T I BE 000 AN A EE R P
3l 78 7% 3% 70 B9 0 Ja B L B o SR
B BLRE RS B o R SR B B At B R
ME 2 5 B 2 Jml B o AR B A Y
KA DL A SR A A B 4R B
B BB R CE H AW LA ORI i IR B
R AE R AE W] 2 K

A B I 2 A B DL B R 2
< e B W Rk E > B T RE B A
W oT 2 A S B R I BAYE T e 3k
JeRHE o B 8 B A T A 4
B 2 5 R W AR AT F R 2 SN E B

() 7K ANHE JE B

ARSI AR G B A R 0 OR
H Br ok 52 2 50 R B > % 4F Sh
W B 5 TR BT B B 2 e AR
B BB A DL T e | LU SE
< B W EHE T OE A o BN R i
HEy shHmBma s " iz
B30 ME S 5 By s T 81 O o ol
g Ah 3B 2 S R R A
LW U Re B R T E A 2 R
A AL AETE A

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily United States dollars (“‘USD”), Pound Sterling (“GBP”),
Euros, Renminbi Yuan and Japanese Yen.

As the Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) is pegged to the USD,
management does not expect any significant movements in the
USD/HKD exchange rate and considers the exposure to foreign
currency risk in relation to the USD to be low. However,
management acknowledges that it is exposed to fluctuations in
the exchange rate for other currencies and the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional
currency of the entity taking out the loan or, in the case of the
Group’s entities whose functional currency is HKD, in either HKD
or USD. Given this, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end
of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposures are shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate
at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation
of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong
into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

7 32 5h e IR Bg: (DA ¥ 72 50 7%
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)
X by ARW HH
United States Pound HOTH Renminbi Japanese
Dollars Sterling Euros Yuan Yen
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000
JEWCBE S & Trade and other
HAbE s receivables - - - - 86 _ _ _ _ _
Ha K Cash and cash
Be%EY  equivalents 2,224 1,108 35 140 1,842 1878 10921 18,607 17 80
MEATBE S & Trade and other
HAEMZ  payables and
KA AR contract liabilities | (445)  (14) - - (1,733) (2,416) (38417)  (867) - (574
1,779 1,094 35 140 195 (538) 7,504 17,740 17 (494)
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24 S E A LSBT HA
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(d) S B (4)

(i)

24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)
R B AT (i)  Sensitivity analysis
TR GRS R R B AR The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
45 ] 7R I B ORI B Y B N T R the Group’s loss or profit after tax (and retained profits) that
A CEHOBE A A ) O At 3 i R would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
A BAREEPBLEER (& has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
PR 88 s ) AR Y BRI RE 28 {L - BE had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
A s A 4R R 2 W o K 3R remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the
JG 2 [ 2 8 TE R 7 35 on 3 pegged rates between the HKD and the USD would be
fib & W 2> I =R 53 Bh 5 228 B4 o materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against other currencies.
2023 2022
BBk
Bz WA
(34 m) B
R ¥ % 2 3} B B A% W A
Bm,/ (W A4) B AR B8 i R 2
W& LT Decrease/ MExEF 7 B/ (8)
(F¥%) (increase) in ('~ %) Increase/
Increase/ loss after tax Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) and increase/ (decrease) in profit after
in foreign (decrease) in in foreign tax and
exchange rates retained profits  exchange rates retained profits
% $°000 % $'000
L gk Pound Sterling 5 2 5 7
(5) () (%) (7)
ik T Euros 5 10 5 27)
(5) (10) () 27
NN Renminbi Yuan 5 375 5 930
(5) (375) 5) (930)
H & Japanese Yen 5 1 5 (25)
(5) (1) ) 25

bR P B U E o A AR R
A B AR HOE B OR H L
il pl shag Bt (R 2 WA/
B 1% A i OR B 2 B = 5 R
T ¥ ) Z 7R AF B B AR e 1R
HE 2 2 B IRF 75 fF R 2

BB AE 23 B B AR % A1 T A 2
5 8 O E B R R AR 4R T
R A A A it WK BB A 4R
LN N L W A
WG 53 B AN 45 8 A s DA Sh SE B
BRI E AL R
eI EAZ ER &
AR M ] SR HEAEAT o

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and equity measured
in the respective functional currencies, translated into HKD
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis excludes differences that would result
from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.
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24 S EBEEMAESHBR T HA
o AE (80

(e)

0y

T A7 J B

AEWERZFFEE B BRI EE
218 A B R (S BB EE S 13 1H) -

B S 0 B AR 238 2 R e
AL R F R G 7
23 BURUNAR I LR A S 0 i
) 4 K -

WZEZEZAEZH = —H o AhE
%Aﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁmwm*
2 RE IR Y T G sk K D 5% (—
T B%) o T I A A AR
PR 8 5 RI & B4 sk e > A 4 | B
ﬁ&@&@ﬂ&% % 530,000 JC
— & T T4 1 856,000 0) A*ﬁf
*T**$UWHM%%‘

AN T
() ARMEARZ SREEKAMGE

AR

AAEE 4@ TR A ARERA
o IR B AE W e E M R
HEEEHBRZEBHNHEHB
%%ﬁm@w%mﬁwﬁ@ﬁ
Tl BT A B 8RS S (E SRR
55 4% R s (E BT T A
Hg R T (S B M1 1 (0)() )
W R4 B AT AR B OH BUR
Ky 4 I A A R () R
HHBEEEEHBEZER ALK
iR R ) e

RBEEF_=FR F
FZA=ZF+—HIEFE RE

TR 2 ] AR
CALSGRCICHES IS T L E S
A5 B BRSO A A RS 1Y R
R B R 2N AU 2 2 TR A
A o

i) MUAsREUIIAKRZ M TR
U /A W1

Jor A7 A DA AR B R 2
BT RMMREEER % ==
k_F A=t HZ
VA Wi 3 RN R

25 7k ¥

ARLEWPB - F T FEZHE— HRHE
BETOMEM MM A - Hig KRB FE
By 4% 4£.937,000 7T ©

24 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(e) Pricerisk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from the trading
securities (see note 13).

Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of the securities compared to the
expectations, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that an increase or decrease
of 5% (2022: 5%) in the market value of the Group’s trading
securities, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss or profit after tax and
retained profits by $530,000 (2022: $856,000). The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2022.

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis. The fair value of the trading securities falls within Level
2 of the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
18, Fair value measurement, based on the inputs used in
the valuation technique (see note 11(b)(i)). The unadjusted
net asset value of the trading securities is used when the
units in a fund are redeemable at the reportable net asset
value at, or approximately at, the measurement date.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

(i) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

All other financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised
cost are carried at amounts not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

25 Commitment

The Group was committed at 31 March 2022 to entered into a new
lease of 9 years that was not yet commenced, the lease payments
under which amounted to $937,000 per annum.
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26 KB BN L% 5

W E A 45 6 S5 3R At 3t D5 BT 4R 2
B2 Gy B &G B AL A S ) B OR B BN £
HEATLL N S o

(a) FHEFHAH ML
BT RS B A ) 2
G L B A 8 I 7

26 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

All members of key management personnel are the directors of
the Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 8.

(b) HRITHEKARAF > HMEAF ([ (b) Transactions with and amounts paid to Yangtzekiang Garment
VLA AR [ )) #EAT 2 38 5 B i H 3 Limited and its subsidiaries (“Yangtzekiang Garment Group”)
) 2 BB (R A Rl 25 T S T R R 2 (certain directors of the Company are collectively the controlling
RIIRAKERRAER PR : shareholders of both the Yangtzekiang Garment Group and the

Group):
2023 2022
$’000 $'000
Wi A BAK 7 Purchases of garment products | 435 4,491
O AT B ME A 67 & Rental expenses paid and payable in
respect of properties 4,800 4,800
B AT M ME A B Management fees paid and payable | 780 780
EL AT B M ASH oK I A P Building management fees paid and payable ! 144 144
AH B AE B HE 4 AH B AR BE W A B S
e LR & Related interest expense
Amount owed by the for the year ended
Group as at 31 March 31 March
2023 2022 2023 2022
g E Financing arrangement $’000 $'000 $’000 $’000
ALIE A0 Lease liabilities ! 8,251 4,891 54 168
B 5 Note:
HTHEERMFZHEANLGHARBILRK As certain directors and their associates are collectively the controlling shareholders
SE ] S AR SR 2 HERE IR (B2 TR - (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Yangtzekiang Garment Group and the Group, the
P > LA b 32 50 A A 4 [ 2 R S BA 1 5 5 G above transactions constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
F2 MW LA EE14A ) o LT B IS 14A Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the
JIT L W) % o o TE R R RS TR A 5 Listing Rules are provided in the section “Connected transactions” in the Directors’
—fii o Report.

() RM_F " -H=+—HEMNH (¢) Outstanding balances due to related companies as at 31 March
N F A ERR 2023:

2023 2022
$°000 $000

JRE A = VL S A 4 B RO Amounts due to Yangtzekiang
Garment Group 161 117

SRR N W) 2 A5 8RR - e B
Je i 788 0 B I A o

109

The outstanding balances with related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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27 W Jg w8 R B R 27 Company-level statement of financial position
Wit 5k 2023 2022
Note $°000 $'000
I By Non-current assets
LN SN & Property, plant and equipment 402 5,340
Wi JEG 2 W) HE i Interests in subsidiaries 62,775 62.775
63,177 68,115
o o) % A Current assets
H At 1 U 3K Other receivables 874 785
JE Wiz i Ja 2 ) R IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 383,216 392,242
Bl BB S E Y Cash and cash equivalents 63,908 79,480
447,998 472,507
i) A Current liabilities
At A 3K Other payables 7,754 7,725
JRE AR RS T 2 m) R IH Amounts due to subsidiaries 62,644 62,638
8 A Lease liabilities _ 4,891
A 1 A B TH Current tax payable 5 104
B 5508
Ui B AT Net current assets 377,595 397,149
P80F A B B B4 Total assets less current liabilities 440,772 465,264
FE i o A Non-current liabilities
R S B H B R Deferred tax liabilities 45 60
45 60
v 7 T NET ASSETS 440,727 465,204
It 7S B ik CAPITAL AND RESERVE 23(a)
il Share capital 383,909 383,909
o Reserve 56,818 81,295
HE %2 44 78 TOTAL EQUITY 440,727 465,204
HREER _F_="FANA T A& Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
Fe A5 HE M o 29 June 2023.
BlE & %% Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Directors

JH BB Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

—_— — — — —
—_— — — — —
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28

29

LA B g A% P OB A il

B EZEHEEHA=EF—H ERERRE
AR B H AT KR EERA TR
Chan Family Investment Corporation
Limited » L 774 B & BF 5 58 M B2 - 5% A W
A B2 At AT AR O AR Y RS R

CEAR R RE R =
VS N LY £
P~ R R R
Hm

éﬁ%ﬁﬁ!ﬁ%iﬁ’z%ﬂ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁa%%@%ﬁﬂ?
o OO 2 HAE R KOR B E B
PN R E —F T SF =N
=t —HIEEAR G RRAAREE Y

Bk R PR AN o A BB AT RO YE BB
THIEALE AR ZHA -

28 Immediate and ultimate controlling party

At 31 March 2023, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate
controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment Corporation
Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. This entity does
not provide financial statements available for public use.

29 Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2023 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These developments include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
R F A H W82 % accounting periods
FH e 9 4 300 I A 3 beginning on or after
A B R R TR —F =4 —H—H HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
R & #
Bk G UE RIS 195 - BB IR & “E =4~ —H Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation 1 January 2023
B HR I A s B R I of financial statements and HKFRS
NS 2R~ F B Practice Statement 2, Making
AR E materiality judgements: Disclosure
of accounting policies
FEGFHERESYE - A H K “E T Z4E—H—H Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting 1 January 2023
el At 2 k= gal et policies, changes in accounting
EFZEF estimates and errors: Definition of
accounting estimates
TR ER 1258 HriFE “E - =4E—A—H  Amendments to HKAS 12, Income 1 January 2023
W — 5 Gy 2 B E KA Taxes: Deferred tax related to assets
g 33 8 P and liabilities arising from a single
transaction
T GEELNE1SE - HHERE “ZJU4E—H—H  Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation 1 January 2024
G - o By B B A Y of financial statements: Classification
# o ZEHT of liabilities as current or non-current
WG EHENE A R ZE A~ —H  Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation 1 January 2024
T3 ;A R 2 I R B A of financial statements: Non-current
2T liabilities with covenants
i BB R HE SR 1e 8k T - “FE - JFE—~H—H Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: 1 January 2024
ERM 2 HEAFEZE Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

A 42 [ BLE BT il 0 A5 B RT R E A KR
T TR 0 A0 BR A I BT E A 2 5 B o B B
A 55 1 SIE OR % B AL L8 T RGBT g
RS R E L PN

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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BB A B 2 R R BR 55 A B Ah

Jie 5 A T 43 S 3 2% 0 A -

ia LB % T K 0 37 1 I 2 F) G 58 2 B Y AT A
1(d) ) - 3lf © 78 A S5 I B 5 i 3 A i B o

TEIME 2R A

Principal Subsidiaries
BT E T =4 = H =+ — H At 31 March 2023

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(d) and
have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.
kS Y ET0 S L 1 E]
J L K R e B0 e A R A%
Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
TR establishment and of issued and ownership HEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
R EA AT it 2 shares 100 B EE M e A it B R
YGM Marketing Limited Hong Kong Investment holding, and garment
wholesaling and retailing
YGM Asset Management Limited i 2 shares 100 WERERWERE
Hong Kong Property investment and property
leasing
YGM i 35 4 Ji& (B ) A PR # 100,000 shares 100 WAREE
YGM Marketing (Macau) Limited Macau Garment retailing
i 1 UL SE A R 2 m] e e N R 4L A RMB34,005,685 100 HEER LM ERTE
YGM Trading Company Limited ## Mainland China Investment holding, and garment
wholesaling and retailing
il 0 A IR e GE YNGR RMB500,000 100 AU EE R EE
Shanghai Ji Yang Trading Company Mainland China Garment wholesaling and retailing
Limited ##
Michel René Enterprises Limited ** o LR 50,000 shares 68 UK HLE KT E
British Virgin Islands Garment wholesaling and retailing
Luk Hop Garments Limited & 2 shares 100 WE#HE
Hong Kong *10 shares Property investment
HBEERFHRAA & 2 shares 100 fEEMR
Hong Kong Security Systems Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
il % 2 E R A R A i 100 shares 100 EARER - —BEEDH LEE
Hong Kong Security Printing Limited Hong Kong ELRR 78 i B A% ¥ ik
Provision of security printing, general
business printing and trading of
printing products and investment
holding
3l 2R A P TR PR 7 i 100,000 shares 9% BEEK
NF Systems Holding Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
i /A i 1 share 95 R E TR T R 2 B
NF Systems Limited Hong Kong Development of authentication and
electronic forgery detection solutions
Société Guy Laroche % EUR2,925,061 100 A D A R A AR
France Trademark ownership and licensing
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[3 Ve TR PiA R

PO B B8 8 b M 800 e A %R EE S

Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
A AR establishment and of issued and ownership ~ FEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
YGM Studio Limited s 21,061,000 shares 100 HEEMR

Hong Kong 46,800,000 shares Investment holding
YGM Consortium Limited it 2 shares 100 HEHEMK

Hong Kong Investment holding
RILEEHRAH R 2 shares 100 HEA JER AT A AR
YGM Retail Limited Hong Kong Trademark ownership and licensing

JIr A7 L BEAT B AR gy o B Oy R AR > (EL DR A TE R A

* T M A% S M AR A B 0 o
= B CEREE LA -
“*  Michel René Enterprises Limited it & i #% 4% -

All the issued share capital represents ordinary shares or registered capital except where noted by:

* Represent non-voting deferred shares.
> Represent non-voting preference shares.
**  Michel René Enterprises Limited operates in Taiwan.

OB AFMBECGEL A2 HIEW AR LSk E e

o REAE LA T B A S () S T B A 2

# The English translation of the companies name are for reference only. The official name of the companies are in Chinese.
# These are wholly foreign owned enterprises registered in Mainland China.
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